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PERFORMANCE REPORT - OVERVIEW

Performance Report - Overview

The purpose of the overview section of the Performance Report is to give you sufficient information
to understand Invest Northern Ireland (Invest NI), its purpose, the key risks to the achievement of
its objectives and how it has performed during the year.

Chair's Statement

I never could haveimagined whenIaccepted the role as Chair of Invest Northern Ireland that the
financial year would end with such uncertainty, challenge and concern.

We were already planning for uncertainty and challenge as the practical aspects of Brexit, as they apply
to Northern Ireland (NI), began to be understood, but no one could have predicted COVID-19 and
theimpact thatit has had on every nation across the globe. The human cost and suffering has been
devastating to see, and on a scale thatis somewhat incomprehensible.

The economicimpact of COVID-19 and the actions government has to take is hard to gauge at the
current time, butitis clear that the pathway to recovery is uncertain. We have seen many businesses
furlough staff or face the difficult decision to make employees redundant, and some may face an even
more difficult decision to close completely. The long term impact on global markets will mean that many
businesses face uncertainty for some time and have to make challenging decisions about how to either
adapt, shift or completely change their business modelin order to survive.

This review of the 2019-20 business year is not the place for me to talk about how we plan to support
businesses to meet this challenge, but I would like to stress that we will do everything within our abilities
to help.

Reflections on 2019-20

Itis difficult to talk about success and the positive impact of our work over the past 12 months when
thereality we areinright now, at the time of writing, is so very different. But, as a publicbody itis a
requirement that we demonstrate, through this Annual Report and Accounts, how we have used the
public funds assigned to us and the impact of our work.

3year progress towards Business Strategy Targets

Over the course of this business strategy period every £1 of assistance we have offered has contributed
towards £5 of investment in the local economy.
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Cumulative Progress | 2017-2021 Business
* *

Additional Jobs 11,005 9,087 9,021 29,113 30,000-40,000
All Sales (£bn) 1.7 1.5 1.3 4.5 £3.2-£4.2bn
External Sales (£bn) 1.3 1.3 0.9 3.5 £2.4-£3.1bn
Export Sales (£bn) 0.8 0.8 0.4 2.0 £0.8-£1.2bn
Increasein Business 14.8 10.7 TBA 255 £160m - £200m
Expenditure on Research

& Development (R&D) (£m)

* Refers to the year in which the growth was recorded.

Asthetable shows, year three saw further growth. Job growth remains consistent with previous years
and has brought us to the cusp of the bottom end of our target range. 2019 export and sales growth

is slightly lower than in the previous two years, but overall we have surpassed the upper range of the
Business Strategy targets for each of these variables.

Our final target is to support increased Business Expenditure on Research & Development (BERD) by
£160m-£200m over the four year period. Progress towards this is measured via the annual NISRA report
whichis released each autumn for the previous calendar year. This is a time lagged measure designed to
report the total amount of R&D investment by all companies in NI

In 2018, NorthernIreland increased its BERD by £10.7m to £549.3m. Whilst the overall level of R&D
investment has grown by more than 30 per cent over the last five years I am particularly proud that Small
and Medium-sized Enterprise (SME) expenditure on R&D has increased by 64 per cent over this same
period to arecord level of £314m.

Our ambition for business innovation is greater than the growth trajectory for this measure and we

have invested in additional innovation activities to drive this over the last year, including innovation
accreditation and innovation voucher schemes. We have also actively stimulated and supported a
number of significant R&D projects through the year, and in 2019-20 Invest NI has supported total new
investment amounting to £79m. However, even with this additional investment we are likely to miss this
target of increased BERD investment over the four years of the Business Plan.

At this point Iwould like to take this opportunity to acknowledge and thank the Invest NI team for their
dedication and professionalism manifest in this three-year performance.

Looking Ahead

2020-21is thefinal year of our current Business Strategy but we already know that our focus will have to
shift to supporting recovery. The true impact of COVID-19 on our economy, and on the global economy,
will not be fully known for a while but we are under noillusion it will be significant — the recovery in various
sectors will differin terms of both scale and pace, as different markets re-open.
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There will be challenges for us all - public and private sector alike. Some businesses will be relatively
unscathed, others will emerge stronger. Some will have a short to medium term downturn, and, sadly,
others may never recover at all. We will respond to the situation and support government and businesses
in whatever way we can.

Our focus will be on providing province-wide solutions delivered in collaboration with partners. We will
provide comprehensive support and guidance to help businesses to review their own strategies and
deliver targeted assistance to help businesses address the specific challenges, such as providing a

safe working environment, raised as a result of COVID-19. We will help companies innovate, embrace
digitisation, seek new markets and invest in staff, so they can improve their overall competitiveness and
be at the forefront of the global recovery.

The future will not be the same as the past but we will use every opportunity to help rebuild a globally
competitive and more sustainable economy that works for everyone.

New Governance and Leadership

I became Chair of the Invest NI Board in August 2019, following seven years as a Board member. I knew
it would be a busy role — preparing for Brexit, beginning work on the next Business Strategy for 2021-22
onwards, and recruiting a new Chief Executive — but my first eight months have been quite a whirlwind!

I'would like to acknowledge the hard work of my predecessor Mark Ennis and thank him for his guidance
as [took over the baton, and to recognise the impact and leadership of our previous Chief Executive,
Alastair Hamilton. In his 10 years as Chief Executive, Alastair ensured customer focus and effective
execution remained central to everything the organisation delivered.

In October we welcomed our new Chief Executive Kevin Holland to the team, officially taking on the

role of Accounting Officer of Invest NIin November 2019. Kevin and I have spent a lot of time meeting
business organisations, councils, stakeholders and businesses. These meetings have been crucial. We
have listened to feedback, discussed issues and built relationships that will help shape our thoughts and
ambitions for Invest NI. We see so much potential for what this organisation can do, enhanced through
effective partnership and collaboration.

Following several years absence, the return of the NI Assembly and re-establishment of the NI Executive
was widely welcomed. Our Ministers play such a vital role as leaders both locally and internationally and
Ilook forward to working with our Minister, Diane Dodds, and her colleagues across all Departments to
support the Executive’s vision for Northern Ireland.

There have been a number of other changes in our Board and the leadership team within Invest NI. We
said farewell to three longstanding Board members — Ken Nelson, Gerard O'Hare and Scott Rutherford.
The four of us joined the Invest NI Board at the same time so I have had the pleasure of working closely
with them all, and I know the dedication each brought to their eight years as Board members. I would like
to thank them for their commitment to the Invest NI Board and wish them all well for the future.
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Coinciding with the start of the new financial year, we welcomed five new Board members: Kieran
Kennedy, Managing Director of O’Neills Irish International Sports Company Limited; Colin Coffey, Chair of
the Agri-Food & Biosciences Institute; Marie-Therese McGivern, Chair of a number of bodies, and Non-
Executive Director of the Strategic Investment Board and NI Water; Kevin Kingston, Chief Executive of
Danske Bank; and Michael McQuillan, Chief Executive at Enterprise NI

Within the Executive Leadership Team we said farewell to Olive Hill, Executive Director of Business
Strategy Implementation, following along and varied career in economic development. We have also
offered our best wishes to our Executive Director of HR, Amanda Braden, at the start of this new financial
year as she takes a career break. We wish both Olive and Amanda well with their future plans and thank
them for their leadership, professionalism and dedication during their time at Invest NI. As well as saying
farewell to some colleagues, we welcomed Alan McKeown as Executive Director of the Regional Business
Group and Denise Black as Executive Director of HR.

Conclusion

Given the scale of theimpact of COVID-19 on the local economy and the number of businesses adversely
impacted the focus of the Board and leadership team within Invest NI will be to support government to
deliverits COVID-19 economic recovery plan.

An extensive programme of work will be required to support businesses through this recovery and
to keep NorthernIreland “front of mind” in international markets. I have no doubt that the team at
Invest NI will work hard to deliver this and that every effort will be made to help businesses rebuild,
repurpose and recover.

Rising to the challenge ahead of us will take a combined effort, but the Northern Ireland business
community has proven itself capable of meeting challenges before. Opportunities exist and it will
be by embracing change and grasping these opportunities that we can ensure Northern Ireland is
amongst the firstand the strongest economies in the recovery.

LS tatter

Rose Mary Stalker
Chair
Date: 11 September 2020
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Chief Executive’s Review

As Rose Mary has commented above, none of us could have predicted the current human health and
economic crisis facing many countries across the globe. This crisis places a different lens on our review
of the 2019-20 financial year, and we recognise that many of the hard earned gains that have been
made will have been negatively impacted by COVID-19.

COVID-19 Response

Ourinitial focus has been to provide fast, clear official information to support businesses and
stakeholdersin their decision making. Our Business Support Team responded to unprecedented levels
of calls as companies tried to navigate the business challenges and understand their eligibility for
government support. Our free-to-all information website nibusinessinfo.co.uk has been the primary
source of up-to-date information on national and regional government schemes. We have also
partnered with business experts to deliver wide ranging webinars on managing through this crisis.

Theresilience and agility of companies across Northern Ireland was both impressive and inspiring,
whether quickly switching production to make Personal Protective Equipment supporting the
Government collaborations for ventilators or demonstrating Northern Ireland’s cybersecurity
resilience in assuring continuity for global IT centres. We were glad to contribute a central rolein
matching government need with business expertise and supporting our health service and wider
society.

For Invest NIand its staff, we moved swiftly to remote working in March across all our offices, locally
and internationally. Our own global systems preparedness allowed us to rapidly and seamlessly offer
full level of support to businesses and our customers while working remotely from homes around the
world, inline with local guidance. As each country begins to emerge from the ‘stay at home’ COVID
response, we will review and implement a planned and phased return to office working and field
working where and when it is safe to do so.

Passion and determination

When I moved to Northern Ireland in October last year I was struck by the warmth of the welcome
Ireceived here, both personally and professionally as well as the true talent Isaw in the Northern
Ireland business community. And as I spent much of my time in the initial months at Invest NI getting
out and meeting people, this firstimpression was reinforced by the unique and extensive expertise
apparentin many sectors here. During my visits to companies right across the province I was greatly
impressed by the (often quiet) determination and passion of business owners and their teams.

My visits included companies of all sizes and from different sectors and it gave me a real opportunity
to seefirst-hand the breadth of what Northern Ireland has to offer, whether small companies like
signage manufacturer Sign Reload in Dungannon or Lisburn-based technology firm Connected Care
which have invested heavily to increase exports.

Ialso visited some of our larger companies like Armstrong Medical, when I had the pleasure of
announcing the company’s expansion of its manufacturing facility in Coleraine. The company exports
respiratory products to over 60 countries, and has seen its production output treble following global
orders forits products due to COVID-19.
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Bangor-based manufacturer Denroy Plastics was a super technology company which graciously
welcomed me as it announced its injection moulding technology had achieved Boeing qualification.
Such recognitionis not only great for the company but a ringing endorsement of Northern Ireland’s
aerospace sector as awhole.

Innovation and Competitiveness

Attheroot of competitive success is the ability to innovate —to continually review your technology and
business’ performance and look for ways to improve efficiency, to refine and reinvent a product, or to
breakinto a new market.

Northern Ireland has many innovative companies but according to the official Innovation Survey,

the region falls behind the rest of the UK. However, every day we are working with and supporting
companies of all sizes to innovate, but they may not always identify it as such. For this reason, on
behalf of the Department for the Economy (DfE), Invest NI launched a new initiative, Innovate NI, to
help generate awareness of the importance of innovation and increase the number of Northern Ireland
businesses successfully engaging ininnovation activity. We are partnering with local councils and
further education colleges to deliver this initiative.

Innovate NI provides practical advice for businesses on how to become more innovative and how to
keep successfully innovating. The programme also includes a unique Northern Ireland Innovation
Accreditation Scheme, awarding bronze, silver, gold or platinum level award in recognition of their
current level of innovation. To date 381 businesses had received an Innovation Accreditation Award,
with 34 awarded platinum status, 18 gold, 276 silver and 53 bronze, as at the end of the financial year.

Brexit

In addition to our advice and support for growth projects, we also provided tailored specific support

to help businesses prepare for Brexit. We launched an online tool, completed by 1,300 companies,

to help them assess what areas of their business could be impacted by Brexit and highlight support
available to help address this. We ran a series of free seminars and workshops open to all businesses,
with presentations from specialist advisors on customs, taxation, transport and logistics, strategic
sourcing, immigration, and legal. Over 1,500 company representatives attended our Brexit Workshops,
and nearly 500 received 1:1 Specialist Advice.

We alsointroduced a Brexit Preparation Grant, providing up to £50,000 support to help businesses
prepare for Brexit. By the end of the financial year we had issued 101 grants to a total value of just over
£3.2m since the fund launchedin January 2019.

Investment and jobs right across Northern Ireland

We provide an extensive range of advice, support and guidance to all businesses throughout Northern
Ireland. This includes a wide range of open workshops and seminars, our Business Information Centre
and Business Support Team which provide guidance and signposting, and our website nibusinessinfo.
co.uk which provides free access to the latest business information.

Over the latter few months of 2019-20 we received questions on the balance of our support across
NorthernIreland’s regions, in particularin attracting inward investment. As a public body we expect,
and understand, the scrutiny we receive. However, our goals and actions are purposefully designed to
grow aregionally balanced economy and we will ensure this focus is amplified.
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Our financial support packages are designed to help export focussed businesses grow. Last year, three
quarters of the businesses we financially supported were based outside Belfast, as it has been for at
least the last five years, and similarly for 70 per cent of our financial offers.

We are often asked about how we promote different parts of Northern Ireland to potential foreign
investors. Attracting foreign investment is highly competitive where we are often competing

against cities with larger populations than the whole of Northern Ireland. For that reason we sell
NorthernIreland as a whole. However, we are working closely with all 11 councils to help them develop
theirinvestment propositions and identify USPs to attract more investors to their area and tailor

the different offers to investor demand. We have also supported a number of councils with visit
programmes to the US and UAE to help promote their area. Last year we attracted 28 new investors to
Northern Ireland, a powerful performance.

Future Focus

Undoubtedly the impact of COVID-19 on businesses and the NI economy will shape the focus of our
work in 2020-21, and beyond.

As we move from emergency response into recovery phase, we are maintaining regular contact

with our customers and really listening closely both to provide advice and guidance and to provide
strong evidence for potential NI Executive recovery pathways. As a delivery body for government, we
will respond rapidly to the economic development policies the NI Executive develops and will either
develop or adapt support measures to deliver these policies and help rebuild Northern Ireland’s
economy.

Iam confident that the determination and passion that I witnessed when I visited companies in my
initial months will help many businesses overcome this current challenge. And as markets begin to
reopen, Northern Ireland’s unique position and relationship with the US to the west, and Great Britain,
Ireland and Europe to the east and south, will place us in a strong position to rebuild our exports,
attractinvestment, stimulate innovation and bring money into Northern Ireland to refuel our economy
and fund wider public priorities.

Kevin Holland
Chief Executive
Date: 11 September 2020
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The purpose and activities of the organisation

Invest NIis a ‘Non-Departmental Public Body’ (NDPB) established on 1 April 2002 under the Industrial
Development Act (Northern Ireland) 2002, which operates under a Board which is the body corporate.

As the regional business development agency, Invest NI's role is to grow the local economy. We do this
by helping new and existing businesses to compete internationally, and by attracting new investment
to Northern Ireland.

We are part of the Department for the Economy and provide strong government support for business
by effectively delivering the Government’s economic development strategies.

In addition to the Bedford Square headquarters, Invest NI also has other offices in Northern Ireland,
Great Britain, Republic of Ireland, Continental Europe, North America, Africa, the Middle East and

in Asia-Pacific. The activities of the overseas offices support a wide range of Invest NI's economic
development objectives by promoting Northern Ireland as a prime location for investment and
developing trade opportunities for Northern Ireland’s companies.

The consolidated financial statements include the results of Invest NI and its subsidiary undertakings:
Northern Ireland Co-Operation Overseas Limited (NI-CO); Bedford Street Developments Limited
(BSDL); MRDE Limited; Bedford Street Management Company Limited; and MRDE FM Limited.

Invest NI owns the entire ordinary share capital of NI-CO and the BSDL Group, which is further
disclosed in note 10 to the accounts.

Key issues and risks

Thereis no doubt that the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has introduced a huge amount of
uncertainty that will continue to affect the group’s operations for some time to come. In line with its
Risk Management Strategy and Policy, Invest NI has taken a systematic and proactive approach to
identifying and articulating the risks associated with the pandemic. It has developed a COVID-19 risk
register that is focussed on the following areas:

1. Thesafety and wellbeing of our staff and their families;

2. Invest NIbusiness continuity;

3. Business continuity in the Northern Ireland economy;

4. Informationand decision making;and

5. InvestNI'sobjectives and strategy.

We will continue to identify and mitigate the key risks associated with the COVID-19 pandemic.

There are a number of other risks and uncertainties inherent in the group’s operations that could
have a significantimpact on its business, results and financial position. The Risk Management
Strategy and Policy sets out the processes for identifying, managing and recording those risks.
The most significant business risks, with a residual risk rated as “very high”, are reported to DfE
with updates provided quarterly.
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Four such risks are detailed in the table below along with a risk relating to the UK’s exit from the EU that
israted as ‘high’ and that will continue to affect the group’s business in 2019-20.

Risk of insufficient skills availability to meet demands of existing and potential Very High
Invest NI customers.
Uncertainty over budget allocation affecting Invest NI's ability to honour Very High

commitments to clients and deliver corporate objectives.

Failure to identify, work to and deliver against objectives that appropriately Very High
reflect PfG targets
Potential for staff resourcing to be insufficient to execute Corporate Plan and Very High

meet Business Strategy objectives

Following the vote to leave the EU, there is considerable uncertainty over trade, High
EU funding, migration and business regulation. Depending on the nature and

timing of UK exit, there is a risk of an adverse impact on NI levels of exporting and

FDI, resulting in failure to meet key Invest NI corporate objectives in the short to

medium term.

Failure to focus on changing customer needs in the face of changes in the global High
or national economic climate.

Further details about theserisks, including their potential impact and the strategies adopted by
the group to mitigate them, can be found on page 13, while further information on the group’s risk
management process through our risk and control framework is on page 42.
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Performance Report - Performance Analysis

The purpose of the Performance Analysis section is to provide a detailed performance summary of how
Invest NI measures its performance, more detailed integrated performance analysis and long term
expenditure trend analysis.

2019-20 Targets and Achievements

Our Business Strategy 2017-2021 provides a clear indication of how Invest NI will contribute to the
delivery of the outcomes of the Northern Ireland draft Programme for Government and the associated
draft Northern Ireland Industrial Strategy - Economy 2030; by:

«  Supporting and encouraging 30,000 - 40,000 additional jobs;
« Increasing business expenditure on Research and Development by £160m - £200m;

«  Supporting customers toincrease total sales by £3.2bn - £4.2bn, of which £2.4bn - £3.1bn will be
sales outside Northern Ireland, including £0.8bn - £1.2bn of new export sales.

Business Strategy Outcome Targets 2017-2021

Invest NI's annual performance is reported from a set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) from

a portfolio of approximately 1,700 customers with whom we have an account-managed relationship.
By gathering and reporting on this data we monitor progress towards the headline outcomes of our
Business Strategy,

Key KPIresults indicate a strong performance by these customers in the 2019 calendar year.

_ 2017 Outcome* | 2018 Outcome* | 2019 Outcome*

Additional New Jobs Created 11,005 9,087 9,021
Total sales growth £1.7bn £1.5bn £1.3bn
External sales growth £1.3bn £1.3bn £0.9bn
Exports sales growth £0.8bn £0.8bn £0.4bn
Business Expenditure on R&D growth £14.8m** £10.7m** -

*

Growth figures based on an annual cohort of businesses which have data recorded for consecutive years
Growth figures from the R&D Statistical Bulletin. 2019 figures will be available in late-2020.

k%

Operating Plan 2019-20 Targets

KPIdatais gathered and reported annually. The activity measure targets within our Operating Plan
have been specifically chosen as they drive the delivery of our Business Strategy outcomes and their
progress can be monitored and tracked in-year.

Overall performance within the Operating Plan 2019-20 was very good, with 18 of the 20 activity
measures met or exceeded. Performance against the key measures of the Operating Plan 2019-20 are
summarised overleaf, while the various factors which influenced 2019-20 performance are exploredin
the Chair’s Statement and Chief Executive’s Review.
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Invest NI fell just short of the 2019-20 target for Total Investment in R&D as one large project
proceeded without Invest NI assistance. It should be noted however, that the Four-Year Operating
Plan Target for Total Investment in R&D target has already been achieved.

Activity Target Progress Progress Progress
2017-21 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

1. Total Assisted Jobs 16,000 - 24,000 4,467 5,728 6,254
a) Assisted Jobs from locally-owned

companies 8,800-13,400 2,777 3,138 3,667
b) Assisted Jobs from externally-owned

companies 7,200-10,600 1,690 2,590 2,587
of which: of which: of which: of which: of which:
) Assisted Jobs from first time inward

investment 5,340-7,700 820 1,120 1,386
2. Total Investment in Innovation £64m - £80m £20m £20m £17m
3. Total Investment in R&D £400m - £700m £131m £255m £79m
4. Total Investment in Skills £130m - £170m £24m £47m £46m
5. Companies entering New Markets 600 - 800 260 335 300
of which: of which: of which: of which: of which:
a) Companies selling outside NI for the first

time 300 - 400 107 175 135

Invest NI revises performance data on a regular basis to ensure that it reflects implemented projects;
for this reason the data above may differ to previously published information.

Internal Audit Service (IAS) has completed a verification exercise of the performance data and is
satisfied that the activity outturn for 2019-20 reported by Invest NI has been accurately stated,
and presents a true and fair view of activity for the period.

2020-21 Targets and Goals

Invest NI, along with stakeholders and economic partners, stands ready to take all necessary steps
tofacilitate the restart and recovery of the Northern Ireland economy following the unprecedented
impact of the COVID-19 global pandemic. We will prioritise the delivery of the NI Executive’s Recovery
Plan; where required implementing new and adapted national and local initiatives to aid recovery.

Given the significant changes to the external environment and in consultation with the Department
for the Economy, priorities, resources and Operating Plan targets in 2020-21 will be allocated / reset to
help businesses manage uncertainty and ensure the long-term sustainability of our economy.

KPI Risk

Therisk and control framework of Invest NI is explored in detail in the Corporate Governance Report.
Risks specific to the KPIs are regularly reviewed and assessed by our Executive Leadership Team as
part of our ongoing risk management arrangements. These include risks to the quality and timeliness
of the KPI data, as well as the survey completion rate by customers.
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Risk Profile

Invest NI's goalis to transform Northern Ireland into a truly world-leading, internationally competitive
economy that provides opportunities for all. In order to deliver this objective, we must understand the
risk/reward profiles of what we do to an even greater extent than other public sector bodies.

The Risk Management Strategy and Policy sets outs the organisation’s proactive approach to the
identification, evaluation and cost effective control of risks, to ensure that they are either eliminated
or reduced to an acceptable level. We recognise that risk can rarely be eliminated completely but
encourage all staff to understand the nature of risk and accept responsibility for risks in their area

of authority. We mitigate risk through good policy and process but also through instilling the right
attitude and awareness across our team.

The 2019-20 year marked the third year of Invest NI's four year Business Strategy period. Strong
performance to date against the objectives set out in the strategy has been overshadowed by the
COVID-19 pandemic, which hasintroduced a level of uncertainty that will continue to affect Invest NI's
operations as we look beyond the immediate impact and toward recovery.

Invest NI has identified a number of key risks relating to COVID-19 and has established a specific risk
register to complement the existing Corporate Risk Register. Risks are categorised within the following
priority areas:

1. Thesafety and wellbeing of our staff and their families;
2. InvestNIbusiness continuity;

3. Business continuity in the Northern Ireland economy;
4. Informationand decision making;and

5. InvestNI's objectives and strategy.

These priority areas reflect the need to address risks arising in the immediate response to the
pandemic, for example: ensuring that our staff and their families are not exposed to the risk of
infection; ensuring that Invest NI operations can continue while staff are working remotely; assisting
in DfE’s response to the short-term financial impact of the lockdown; and assessing and meeting the
short-term needs of our customers. We are also considering the risks associated with longer-term
recovery plans, for example: tailoring our support to meet the long-term needs of our customers; the
impact on Invest NI objectives going forward.

We will continue to develop the COVID-19 Risk Register so that we can identify and mitigate those risks
that have the potential to impact on the economy and our ability to contribute towards recovery.

There are a number of other risks that have impacted the organisation during 2019-20 and that have
the potential to continue to do so. The following table details those key risks, how they have been
mitigated and their potential impact on our future plans and performance.
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_ Potential Impact Migrating Actions

Following the vote to

leave the EU, thereis
considerable uncertainty
over trade, EU funding,
migration and business
regulation. Thereis arisk
of anadverseimpact on NI
levels of export and Foreign
Direct Investment.

Risk of insufficient skills
availability to meet
demands of existing
and potential Invest NI
customers.

The uncertainty over the

UK's future relationship with
the EU has the potential to
impact on business confidence
particularlyin terms of
investment and exporting.
Thereisaneedtoensure

that the requirements of NI
businesses are representedin
the exit negotiations to ensure
that NIis not disproportionally
affected.

Insufficient skills availability
to meet demand of customers
will (1) impact on productivity
of indigenous and established
companies; (2) impact on
ability to attract new inward
investment to NI; (3) restrict
growth of indigenous and
established companies.

Adetailed EU Exit Action Planisin place,
whichis being updated on a monthly

basis. Dedicated EU Exit team established.
Extensive business engagement collating
information on EU exitissues and
implications. These business insights

are being shared with DfE to feed into NI
Executive Inter-Departmental Co-Ordinating
Group.

We will continue to monitor ongoing policy
development by the UK Government and
continue to maintain close contact with
colleaguesin DfE. As greater certainty
emerges, we will consider how these will
impact on the delivery of economic policy.
Where opportunities exist, these will be
maximised to benefit our local economy. We
stand ready toroll out arange of advisory
support toall NI businesses, as the out-
workings of the NI Protocol become clear.

Ongoing engagement with existing client
base, potential new investors, Universities
and DfE. Supply information to Skills
Barometer for articulation of demand and
collaborative approach with DfE on the
Assured Skills Program to create pipeline
of available skills. Collaborative Network
planned for each priority sector.

Review theimpact of COVID-19 on work by
other bodies inrelation to engaging with the
economically inactive.

Overall, a consequence of COVID-19 will
be a significantly changed labour market,
with higher unemployment against lower
economic activity, in the short to medium
term. It will be necessary to review this risk
when theimpact of COVID-19is clearer.
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_ Potential Impact Migrating Actions

Uncertainty over budget
allocation affecting Invest
NI's ability to honour
commitments to clients
and deliver corporate
objectives.

Failure toidentify,

work to and deliver
against objectives that
appropriately reflect PfG
targets

As aresult of the previous
absence of the Executive, a
multi-year budget exercise has
not been completed. Budgets
have therefore been allocated
to Invest NIfor the 2020-21
financial year but not beyond.
Thisimpacts negatively on our
ability to plan going forward.
The programme budget
includes ERDF funds, which

will beimpacted by Brexitin
futureyears. The COVID-19
crisis has resulted in significant
additional budget uncertainty
as clients re-think their plansin
light of the business impacts of
the pandemic.

Toensurethat progressis
made against known, specified
objectives and targets to
deliver the PfG goals

Budgets were allocated for 2020-21in April
2020, but uncertainty remains for both
resource and capital beyond this financial
year. While the material uncertainty around
the budget allocation for 2020-21 has
reduced as aresult of the allocation being
made, the COVID-19 crisis has brought
additional uncertainty to the situation.

We continue to work with DfE on the
economic response and will align our budget
requirements behind this as quickly as
possible.

Continue to engage with DfE in submitting
bids and supportinginformation to the
Department of Finance (DoF). Continue to
explore best use of other funds including FTC
and EU funds. Work with DfE to develop an
economic response to the COVID-19 crisis
and align our schemes and interventions as
well as our budget allocations behind these.

ELT monitors monthly progress against all
key targets and canimplement remedial
actions quickly as appropriate. Quarterly
Oversight & Liaison meeting with DfE
includes Invest NI performance as a key
agendaitem. Quarterly performance
reporting to The Executive Office (TEO) on
progress against PfG targets. Full ELT liaison
with the Executive, TEO, DfE and all other
relevant stakeholders in the creation of NI
Assembly’s new PfG.

The COVID-19 pandemic emerged during
March 2020, leading to unprecedented
intervention by governments across the
world to limit economic activity and minimise
theimpact on public health. At this point,

the focusis on shielding businesses, workers
andindividuals to avoid an economic crisis
becoming a deep recession.

The outworkings of COVID-19 on the

wider economic context willemergein the
months ahead, the implications of which
canbereflected in a new Invest NI Business
Strategy and NI Industrial Strategy/PfG.
Whilst Invest NI has continued to perform
strongly, the risk score has beenincreased
toreflect the substantial uncertainty over
the achievement of objectivesin 2020-21
including potentially delivering new tasks on
behalf of DfE.
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_ Potential Impact Migrating Actions

Potential for staff
resourcing to beinsufficient
to execute Corporate

Plan and meet Business
Strategy objectives

Failure tofocus on
changing customer needs
intheface of changes
inthe global or national
economic climate

If the number of priority
vacanciesis not reducedtoan
acceptable level then staffing
levelsin critical areas will be
insufficient resultingina
negativeimpact on our ability
to execute against Corporate
Plan and Business Strategy
objectives.

Aninappropriate product
offering could resultinthe
failure to meet corporate
objectives, poor delivery

of services to customers,
confusion andinconsistency of
approach.Itcould also havea
negativeimpact on Invest NI's
reputation through adverse
publicity

ELT toidentify and agree priority resourcing
for critical areas on a quarterly basis. HR team
towork with ELT to continue to progress and
monitor the recruitment plan and flag up any
need for re-setting of priorities.

COVID-19crisis has further materialised
since the end of March and willimpact on
vacancy list. Likelihood scores (unmitigated
and mitigated) have beenincreased and risk
isnowin ‘Very High' category as aresult.

Scoringincreasedin the March 2020 update
as aresult of the current volatility of the
operating environment due to the COVID-19
pandemic. Invest NI continues to work
closely with DfE on a combined emergency
response to theimpact of the pandemic on
the economy. This hasincluded the c£220m
Small Business Grant Scheme, the c£80m
Hospitality, Tourism and Retail Sectors Grant
Scheme and the c£40m Hardship Fund
Scheme. In order toreflect our expectation
that companies will rethink their plansin
2020-21, we have adjusted our budget
focus and submitted a range of bids to the
COVID-19response intervention funds.

The table also describes how the potential impact from these risks has changed throughout the course
of 2019-20, in particular how these existing risks have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. This

is exemplified by the final entry (‘Failure to focus on changing customer needs’) where an existing risk,

which has featured on the Corporate Risk Register for some time at a relatively low risk rating, has now

been escalated as aresult of the current situation.

Invest NI also has an Emerging Risk Register that captures those risks that have the potential, if
they were to come to fruition, to impact on Invest NI's business but which are relatively remote from
the organisation’s day-to-day business, either because they are further away from materialising or
because they exist on a wider scale than Invest NI can influence through mitigating actions.

The Invest NI Board conducts a horizon-scanning exercise twice a year in order to ensure

that all relevant emerging risks have been captured and appropriately assessed and to make
recommendations for risks to be escalated to the Corporate Risk Register. This process has led to
anumber of new risks being placed on the Corporate Risk Register (e.g. the threat/opportunity from
Aland automation) and existing risks being augmented to reflect emergingissues.
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Business Review

Invest NI Budget outturn

« InMarch 2020 Invest NI, in conjunction with DfE and by Ministerial Direction, delivered the £220m
COVID-19 Small Business Grant Scheme.

+ Excluding the Small Business Grant Scheme the total net outturn for the year was £106.9m against
an allocated budget of £107.8m, a 99 per cent achievement against target.

+ Receipts generated in the year, excluding EU programme funding, totalled £24.1m against a
target of £23.4m. These receipts related to the disposal of property, plant and equipment, sale of
investments, property rental, dividends and loan interest, and the clawback of grant monies to the
extent that they have been deemed to be recoverable.

Financial performance and position

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

Total consolidated net operating expenditure for the year, excluding interest payable and corporation
tax, hasincreased from £84.5mto £327.0m.

Theincrease of £242.5min consolidated net operating expenditure relates to a £9.0m decreasein
operatingincome and a £233.4mincrease in operating expenditure.

The decrease in total income for the year of £9.0m from £71.0m to £62.0m, is mainly as a result of the
following movements:

There was a decrease in grant clawback income of £7.0m, as compared with last year. Whilst this
can fluctuate year on year, clawback relates to grant amount recovered when there is default on the
conditionsin the grant offers.

NI-CO turnover has decreased by £2.5m from £13.5m to £11.0m from reduced revenues on contracts.

There was anincrease of £1.3m in receipts from the European Commission as compared to last year,
reflecting anincrease in the related grant expenditure eligible to attract EU funding.

Finally, theinvestment property in the BSDL group has held its value in the current year, contributing
to a £0.8m decrease inincome year on year as there was a revaluation gain of £0.8m in the prior year.

Total operating expenditure has increased by £233.4m from £155.5m to £388.9m. The increase in
operating expenditure is mainly due to costs of £220m recognised in year in respect of the Small
Business Grant Scheme referenced above. The explanations for the additional increase in expenditure
of £6.8m are alsoincluded in the analysis below:

Salary costs within Invest NI increased by £3.5m. Within this gross wages and salaries have increased
by £1.6m, and anincrease in employer contribution rates for the NICS pension scheme resulted in
additional costs of £1.9m. The £1.6m of additional gross salary costs related to UK-based staff of £1.1m
and staff based overseas of £0.5m. The UK staff cost uplift was as a result of implementation of the
NICS pay award averaging 1.9 per centin Invest NI as well as an increase of average FTE in post from
584 to 594. Further contributing to the increase was a charge of £0.1m for holiday pay accrued but
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not taken. The overseas salary costs increased by £0.5m as we continued the roll out of the overseas
expansion as outlined in the International strategy.

Purchases of goods and services has decreased by £1.1m from £36.2m to £35.1m. Within this, the
costs of servicing contracts within NI-CO decreased by £2.8m from £14.3m to £11.5m as the company
delivered a portfolio of higher-margin contracts during the year. This was offset by anincrease in
administrative costs of £1.3m, as a result of a foreign exchange loss of £1m this year compared to a
£0.3mgainlastyear.

Depreciation and impairment charges have increased by £2.1m from £1.7m to £3.8m, largely in relation
to valuationimpairments of £1.8min certain land and property holdings. Whilst the overall portfolio
increasedin value by £11m, some individual sites decreased in value.

The provisions charge in respect of grants earned but not yet claimed at year end was £6.4m, an
increase of £1m on the prior year charge of £5.4m. This relates to increased liabilities relating to skills
offers and a higher volume of large live offers in the marketplace leading up to year end.

Other operating expenditure, excluding salaries, increased by £7.9m from £78.5m to £86.4m. Within
this, expenditure on grants has increased by £8.0m with £7.8m relating to increased expenditure on
Innovation, research and development. Profits of £2.2m were realised in year on the disposal of some
land holdings and financial assets, and recognition of fair value movements and expected credit losses
on financial instruments resulted in a charge of £2.4m, an increase of £1.2m on last year. The share of
results of associates accounts for anincrease in expenditure of £1.1m, as this year we have recorded
acharge of £3.4m compared to £2.3m last year. This is measured as the net change in asset value of
associates, accounting for any distributions received less the capital contributions paid by Invest NI
intheyear.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Non-current assets including investments at the year-end were £217.0m, an increase of £20.5m on
2018-19. This is principally due to the following factors:

Property, plant and equipmentincreased by £9.9m from £70.3m to £80.2m mainly as a result of
revaluation movements of £11.0m, additions of £2m and transfers from assets held for sale of £1.6m,
offset by disposals of £3.0m (net) and depreciation of £1.7m.

Investmentsin associates hasincreased by £3.5m from £51.7m to £55.2m reflecting further
investment of £19.7min loan and equity funds, offset by a decrease in valuation of £3.4m and £12.7m
of distributions back to Invest NI.

Investments in financial assets increased from £41.6m to £48.8m, mainly as a result of additional
shareinvestments through the Co-investment Fund.

Total current assets at the year-end have remained consistent with that of the previous year at £72m,
although anincrease in cash and cash equivalents of £1.7m has been offset by a transfer of assets back
to plant, property and equipment that are no longer expected to be sold within the next 12 months.
Within trade and other receivables, there was a £3.8mincrease in EU Receivables relating to the
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timing of receipts by Invest NI from the European Commission. There was a £2.2m decrease in Invest
NIrecoverable trade receivables due to the timing of receipts. Other receivables, prepayments and
accrued income have decreased by £1.7m, related to the timing of invoicing.

Total current liabilities have increased by £161.1m from £76.9m to £238.0m. Of this movement, £153m
relates to the element of the £220m Small Business Grant Scheme that was accrued but unpaid at
31March 2020. An overdraftin the books but not at the bank (as a result of the timing of payments
around 31 March) of £4.7mis noted at the year end and trade and other payables, deferred income,
and tax and other social security have decreased by £1.6m due to the timing of invoices received

and payments made at year end. Provisions have increased by £6.4m in respect of grants earned by
31 March but not yet claimed.

Total non-current liabilities at the year-end were £22.4m, a decrease of £0.5m on the previous year,
mainly as aresult of a reduction in group borrowings due in more than one year.

Total taxpayers’ equity has reduced by £140m from £169m to £29m. This reduction is as a result of
costs of £220m of the Small Business Grant Scheme being recognised in year, while the notional grant-
in-aid received and recorded through general reserve in 2019-20 relates only to the amount of £67.7m
paidinyear. The additional grant-in-aid will be recorded in the 2020-21financial year as the grants

are paid out against the remaining accrual of £153m. Within total equity, the revaluation reserve has
increased by £14m as a result of valuation uplifts in property plant and equipment.

Long Term Expenditure Trends

£ .

= Analysis of Budget by Type 2016-17 to 2019-20
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Note: Admin comprises mainly running costs, Resource comprises mainly revenue grant payments
and other revenue support to companies, Capital comprises mainly capital grant payments and other
capital support to companies. AME (Annually Managed Expenditure)/Non-Cash comprises provisions,
asset revaluations and depreciation charges.
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£m Expenditure Outturn v Budget Allocation 2016-17 to 2019-20

430.0
400.0

/
370.0 7
340.0 /
310.0 /
280.0

/

250.0 7
220.0 /

190.0 —_ //‘/"/

160.0

130.0
2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

= = Total Outturn == Total Outturn excluding Small Business Grant Scheme -~ Total Budget

Invest NI assisted in delivering the COVID-19 Small Business Grant Scheme in conjunction with DfE
and by Ministerial Direction. While the scheme was approved by the Northern Ireland Executive on

26 March 2020, it was not possible at that stage of the year to adjust the 2019-20 Budget Estimates.
This expenditure, which was approved by the Finance Minister has therefore been reported separately
onthe Invest NI outturn as thereis no related budget cover. As the scheme was launched in March
2020, estimated expenditure of £220m is recognised in 2019-20.
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2019-20 2019-19 2017-18 2016-17
Budget Budget Budget Budget
Outturn Outturn Outturn Outturn
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Of which:
Administration 4,621 4,688 3,512 3,117
Programme —
Small Business Grant Scheme ALY : ; :
Programme - Other 130,291 119,902 126,947 123,514
Non-Cash 2,105 1,954 1,856 1,133
Of which:
Capital Grant 26,446 25,305 28,256 28,219
Direct Capital 6,257 3,801 2,767 3,554
Financial Transactions 9,345 9,026 9,197 16,795

Of which:

Resource Receipts 9,945 11,927 8,588 8,569
Capital Receipts 14,143 19,303 3,642 3,645
EU Receiptsincluding Recyclables 48,093 39,364 32,496 18,920

*

DEL (Departmental Expenditure Limits)

The Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year is reconciled to the Budget Outturn. There are
arange of reconciling items between the Comprehensive Net expenditure in the Annual Accounts and
the Budget Outturn, for example investments in loans, shares and associates, and the proceeds from
the sale of assets.
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Strategy, Objectives and Future Direction

While our strong performance and outlook has been overshadowed by the unprecedented COVID-19
pandemic and the consequent economic shock that this has caused globally, it is imperative that we
look beyond the immediate negative impacts and plan for economic recovery and re-building the
future. The COVID-19 pandemic has forced governments and central banks across the world to take
extraordinary steps to try to prevent an economic crisis from turning into a deep, long-lasting, global
depression. Now they are turning to tailored steps to rebuild the economy.

As we enter the final year of our four-year strateqy, it is difficult to predict how far-reaching and
sustained the negative impacts of COVID-19 will be on the Northern Ireland economy, the UK and
indeed, economies all around the world. This will depend on how effectively governments globally
manage the health crisis, the extent to which future outbreaks of the virus re-emerge and how quickly
avaccine and effective treatments can be found.

Significant and specific measures have been taken by the UK Government, the Northern Ireland
Executive, DfE and Invest NI to combat the negative economicimpacts of COVID-19, to reduce

and offset exceptional business costs and to help businesses to conserve cash. This may enable
businesses to weather the storm so that they can return to work safely, reset their value propositions
for the new normal of consumer and industrial demand and begin the recovery and re-building
process as the pandemic abates.

However, it is clear that the focus for this next year will be on helping businesses to survive, to recover
through the COVID-19 crisis, however long its impacts continue, and then to begin to re-build. For all
businesses, particularly those firms and sectors hardest hit, this may be along and difficult process
as they try tore-establish their operations, re-build supply chains, re-develop markets, restore
customer confidence and re-build sales and demand. Recovery re-building process represents the
most significant challenge that the Northern Ireland economy has faced in a generation. We remain
committed to working with NI businesses to help them plan for the future, to become even more
innovative and resilient and to plot our pathway towards a self-sustaining Northern Ireland — creating
jobs, increasing exports and expanding innovation.

We recognise too that the process of recovery in the next year will take place alongside major changes
in global trade including the establishment of a new economic relationship between the UK and the
EU and theimplementation of the NI Protocol. New export potential may also become accessible as
global trade deals are completed. These changes will bring many challenges and opportunities which
we will support businesses to address.

Partnership workingin a region of 1.8 million people is more important than ever before and we are
fully committed to forging strong, collaborative working relationships with our economic development
partners and stakeholders across Northern Ireland’s business support ecosystem. We will continue to
work with the Northern Ireland Executive, DfE, academia, business and sector bodies regionally and
nationally to ensure our extensive range of support will help business to re-build and achieve future
growth. We will ensure that our support underpins and contributes to the delivery of the economic
outcomes within the proposed new Programme for Government and Economic Strategy.
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We will continue to work in partnership with DfE and UK government departments such as the
Department for International Trade and the Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy
as well as local councils, universities, colleges and other stakeholders to support businesses to access
the opportunities that will continue to emerge from the UK Industrial Strategy.

Northern Ireland has business and research expertise and capability across many growing
technology areas including cyber security, financial technology, life and health sciences, business
and professional services, advanced manufacturing, data analytics, digital and creative industries.
Research has indicated that, despite theimpacts of COVID-19, these sectors will continue to present
new opportunities for global market growth. We will work in close collaboration with businesses,
academia and economic development partners to determine those areas where Northern Ireland can
excel globally and together, develop a robust pathway to success.

The coming year will also see the further development of the four Northern Ireland Regional City/
Growth deals. We will work closely with the various City and Growth Deal partner councils and other
stakeholders across Northern Ireland as these deals are further developed and implemented. We will
advise and support these initiatives which are key catalysts to creating sustainable economic growth
and jobs throughlong-term investmentin local projects.

The COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated like never before, the need for and importance of
building greater business resilience and innovation across the Northern Ireland economy. This
involves business continuity planning, increasing operational flexibility and driving productivity
improvements. Organisations need to become more agile in transforming their products, services,
processes and business models to new global demand, in undertaking sustained internal
improvement initiatives and in pursuing new forms of collaboration with customers, suppliers, and
partners.

The current pandemic has exposed both challenges and opportunities in local and global supply
chains. Northern Ireland firms have an opportunity to play a greater role in global sourcing and dual
sourcing of products and services. With an emphasis on building robust, shorter supply chains, on
developing province-wide capability and on delivering co-ordinated solutions in collaboration with
partners, we will aim to seize emerging opportunities locally as large businesses look to re-configure
their global supply chains.

The emergence and adoption of new digital technologies and automation are changing business
operations, redefining markets and creating new global opportunities at an unprecedented scale
and speed. Technological disruption powered by the Internet of Things (10T), advanced analytics,
machine learning and artificial intelligence technologies have already heralded the “fourth industrial
revolution” which has the potential to transform the world economy, all aspects of business and our
everyday lives.
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In this next year and beyond, we propose to roll out a comprehensive ‘Digital First’ programme

to support businesses to adopt, deploy and exploit digitalisation, e-commerce and automation.

We will continue to provide comprehensive support to help businesses invest in new technology,
improve their operational efficiency and resource utilisation, upskill and re-skill their workforces and
exploitinnovation to develop and improve their products, services and processes. We will support NI
businesses to enhance their digital capability and develop a more competitive online offering that will
enable them to grow their customer base and build a resilient online and offline business in both the
domestic and global marketplace.

Through our international office network, our teams overseas and stronginternational partnerships,
we will re-double our efforts to support businesses to identify and access new market and sales
opportunities that are identified post-COVID and to take advantage of the new trading relationships
that willemerge as aresult of EU exit and the UK’s independent trade policies. We will closely monitor
how global markets begin to emerge from COVID-19 and to identify new opportunities for foreign
directinvestment or re-shoring activity. We will also build a global network of new International
Advisory Groups and Trade Envoys to bring aninternational perspective and market insights and help
leverage export opportunities for our local businesses in key markets and sectors and support our
drive for inward investment.

We remain committed to concentrating our efforts on those sectors and sub-sectors where Northern
Ireland has world-class capability and the greatest potential to exploit global market opportunities.
Promoting innovation, enhancing business resilience, leadership, management and workforce skills
and improving export capability of large and small firms across Northern Ireland will remain a key
focus in helpingimprove productivity and competitiveness in the coming years and into our next
Business Strategy period.

Invest NI will continue to play a key role within the wider economic development landscape to help
transform Northern Ireland into a truly leading internationally competitive economy that provides
opportunities for all and successfully brings money and investment back in to the region.
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Consideration of Rural Needs

Section 1(1) of the Rural Needs Act (NI) 2016 (‘the Act’) requires public authorities to have due regard
torural needs when developing, adopting, implementing or reviewing a policy, strategy or plan and
when designing or delivering a public service. If the activity which a public authority is engaged in falls
within the scope of section 1(1) of the Act, then the guidance recommends that a Rural Needs Impact
Assessmentis carried out and a Rural Needs Impact Assessment (RNIA) Template completed.

Invest NI has been subject to this legislation since 1 June 2018 and has taken a number of measures in
order to comply with its obligations in this regard, including staff training and quarterly monitoring.
The following outlines the actions taken between April 2019 and March 2020:

Description of the The Rural Describe how the public authority has had due regard to rural
activity undertaken policy area(s) | needs when developing, adopting, implementing or reviewing
by the public which the the policy, strategy or plan or when designing or delivering the

authority which is activity public service
subject to section1(1) | relatesto
of the Rural Needs Act

(NI) 2016
Energy Efficiency Jobs or The EEF support enables businesses to implement cost savings
Finance (EEF) Employment  through energy efficiency, by providing access to finance through

a hybrid loan-grant fund.

The objective of the EEF support is to enable businesses to invest
in energy efficient equipment and/or renewable technologies
covering arange of technologies, such as lighting, heating, air
conditioning, compressed air, process heating & cooling, solar PV,
building control systems.

The EEF is available to the entire NI business base. There is no
granular breakdown into NI regions, previous fund data shows
the spread of support across all council areas. This has been
collated from the available data on our Customer Relationship
Management System (CRM), and shows 38 per cent of
interventions were delivered in rural areas.

The spread of interventions demonstrates there are no barriers
to deliveryinrural areas and there are further opportunities to
expand uptake.

The only additional cost for delivery in rural areas may be
additional mileage expenses incurred by the programme team.

The programme is reviewed on an ongoing basis and through a
mid-term evaluation, taking into account levels of participation
and feedback from participants.

Adjustments, for example in the timing and location of events
are considered in conjunction with Invest NI colleagues, relevant
stakeholders and customers.
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Description of the
activity undertaken
by the public
authority whichis
subject to section1(1)
of the Rural Needs Act
(NI) 2016

Innovation
Accreditation

Resource Efficiency
Finance

The Rural
policy area(s)
which the
activity
relates to

Jobs or
Employment

Jobs or
Employment

Describe how the public authority has had due regard to rural
needs when developing, adopting, implementing or reviewing
the policy, strategy or plan or when designing or delivering the
public service

This Programme involves the introduction to Northern Ireland
(NI) of aninternationally recognised innovation accreditation,
directly mapped to all existing public and private sector
innovation-related support programmes.

39 per cent of Northern Ireland’s firms are actively engagedin
innovation, the second lowest rate of the 12 UK regions.

Thereis no granular breakdown into NI regions. Rural stakeholders
such as councils and colleges have been engaged. They both
recognise the low levels of innovation in their respective rural
areas and see this programme as a way of increasing innovation
capabilities.

The spread of customers and referrals demonstrates there are
no barriers to delivery in rural areas. The only additional cost
for delivery in rural areas may be additional mileage expenses
incurred by the team.

The programme is a DfE initiative and all DfE stakeholders will
beinvolved. This includes councils, colleges, universities and
InterTradelreland.

Resource Efficiency Finance (REF) enables businesses to
implement cost savings through resource efficiency (water, waste
and raw material efficiencies).

The REF support provides a capital grant for the installation of
new equipment that offers greater efficiency in the use of water
and raw materials, reducing associated waste, and enabling cost
savings and productivity improvement for NI businesses.

The REF is revised support that has evolved from the Resource
Efficiency Capital Grant (RECG) which was a strand of the previous
programme — the Sustainable Development Support Programme
(SDSP).

The REFis open to Invest NI clients and is easily accessed by
businesses during periodic Open Calls for application, with service
providers travelling to business premises to deliver advisory
support.

The evaluation of the previous programme noted 93 per cent
business satisfaction and also determined that market failure still
exists to deliver these services to NI businesses.

Thereis no granular breakdown into NI regions, however previous
programme data shows the spread of support in council areas.
This has been collated from the available data on CRM, and shows
69 per cent of interventions delivered in rural areas.
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activity undertaken policy area(s)
by the public which the

authority whichis activity
subject to section1(1) | relatesto
of the Rural Needs Act

(NI) 2016

Energy and Resource Jobs or
Efficiency Advisory Employment
Programme

Corporate Responsibility
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Describe how the public authority has had due regard to rural
needs when developing, adopting, implementing or reviewing
the policy, strategy or plan or when designing or delivering the
public service

The Energy and Resource Efficiency Programme (EREAP) aims
to deliver support to Northern Ireland businesses to identify and
implement cost savings in the use of energy, water, material and
waste through advisory supportin Technical Consultancy and
Industrial Symbiosis resource matching support.

Technical Consultancy & Support provides one-to-one support
brokered by technical advisors from Invest NI's Energy and
Resource Efficiency team and delivered through a framework of
sustainable development consultants. The support covers nine
specialist areas: resource efficiency and waste management
systems; clean technology systems; renewables; energy
management and efficiency; investigation of new technologies;
low carbon packaging solutions; environmental accreditation;
transport efficiency; and sustainable business collaborations.

This support is open to all NI businesses who have an energy and
resource spend of £30,000 or more per annum.

The EREAP is a revised programme delivering similar services to
the previous programme (SDSP) with enhanced efficiencies built
in. Itis opentothe entire NI business base and is easily accessed
by businesses, with service providers travelling to business
premises to deliver the advisory support.

The evaluation of the previous programme noted 93 per cent
business satisfaction and also determined that market failure still
exists to deliver these services to NI businesses.

Thereis no granular breakdown into NI regions, however previous
programme data shows the spread of support in council areas.
This has been collated from the available data on our internal
customer management systems, and shows 45.2 per cent of
interventions deliveredin rural areas.

Through Invest NI's Corporate Responsibility (CR) strategy, we have made a clear commitment
to value the talents of our employees, create a positive workplace and give something back to the
community through responsible business practices.
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Employee Health, Wellbeing and Engagement

Health and Wellbeing is a key area under our CR agenda and we continue to work hard supporting

our staff withimproving both their physical and mental health. In the last year we have developed a
comprehensive Mental Health Strategy with the aim of preventing mentaliill-health, reducing stigma
andintervening at an earlier stage to expedite recovery. We have provided a Mental Health Awareness
e-learning programme for all staff and, in partnership with Action Mental Health, have started training
our managers in this area. This training equips participants with the knowledge and skills necessary
to fully understand issues around mental health and the importance of becoming more mentally
resilient. It also helps managers signpost staff to the appropriate organisation should they need
specialist services.

Our network of staff engagement champions continues to help us to build our approach to employee
engagement and understand what is important to our people. Over the last year we have increased our
ability to help staff progress their careers, promote development and increase engagement through
our flexible staff movement process. This has helped significant numbers of people move around the
organisation and develop their skillsets and experience.

Our Employee Recognition and Notepad Schemes continue to offer formal recognition for those
people deemed to have gone above and beyond their daily role and shown to be exemplars of Invest
NI's vision and values.

During the year, the organisation implemented barrier control and other mitigations for its staffin HQ
and theregional offices in order to protect their health and safety through the COVID-19 pandemic.
Some of our overseas staff have been self-isolating since January and Northern Ireland-based staff
have all been working from home since March. Promotion of wellbeing along with health advice has
beenincluded in weekly newsletters to staff.

Customer Service Excellence (CSE)

Following this year’s CSE assessment we again achieved full compliance against all 57 criteriaand in
27 of those criteria the assessor deemed us to be ‘Compliance Plus’ which maintains our place as the
highest accredited organisation in Northern Ireland. By maintaining these extremely high standards
we continue to demonstrate our commitment to providing excellent customer service, increased
engagement and greater opportunities for staff to get involved in CR activities.

Smart Working

Invest NI hasimplemented a pilot Smart Working scheme in the last year which has the potential to
further reduce energy and waste within our buildings and have wider benefits to localised air pollution
levels. Smart Working gives us the opportunity to make Invest NI a more agile and flexible organisation
and be able to respond quickly to customer need. Environmental benefits are being monitored and
measured as the schemeis rolled out and will be reported on in our next Sustainability Report.

The preparation for Smart Working placed Invest NI in a good position for a rapid move to home
working in March, while maintaining Invest NI business continuity globally during the COVID-19
pandemic.
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Social & Community

Invest NI continues to maintainits Business in the Community (BITC) CORE Benchmarking Standard,
held by only a small number of organisations in Northern Ireland. In the last year we have worked
alongside our latest charity partner, the Air Ambulance NI and so far have fundraised over £10,000.
Through our CR volunteering scheme we continue to work with a wide range of community and
voluntary-based organisations as well as our CR partners, BITC, Young Enterprise, Sentinus and
Prince’s Trust. We also offer a Payroll Giving Scheme that allows staff to make tax-efficient donations
to charities of their choice.

Regional Network

Invest NI delivers a wide range of its services through its Regional Office Network in all 11 NI council
areas. This network provides entrepreneurs, customers and stakeholders with direct links to all
Invest NI services at sub regional level. By working in partnership with these councils and other
local stakeholders Invest NI can ensure that the economic development actions contained within
Community Plans areimplemented and that maximum economicimpact for Northern Ireland is
achieved.

Environmental Matters

We are strongly committed to undertaking environmentally sound practices in the areas of energy,
waste and transport. This approach is adopted for all Invest NI sites and in the last year 99.5% of waste
was recycled or converted into an alternative energy source. In addition Invest NI has been guided by
DfE’s environmental policy and devised initiatives which promoted and enhanced biodiversity on the
Invest NI estate. Biodiversity has now becomeintegral in our everyday estate management regimens
and, where practical, we look for opportunities to incorporate biodiversity into our maintenance and
development projects

In addition over the last year we have replaced emergency lighting with updated LED units and have
installed LED office lighting within our HQ building. LED units will consume less power, emit less heat
thereby reducing air conditioning and disposal of hazardous waste bulbs.

Invest NI provides significant energy and environmental technical advice as well as grant assistance
totheInvest NIclient base and wider NI businesses. Arange of energy audits and technical services
are aimed at increasing the capability of the businesses to adopt energy efficiency, optimisation

of machinery, waste/water reduction, and adoption of international standards for energy and
environmental management.

Invest NI will continue to review its internal/external approaches to environmental matters, and we
are cognisant of the objectives in the recently published NI Executive Strategy ‘New Decade New
Approach’ for adoption of a Zero Carbon Economy, elimination of plastic pollution, adoption of Climate
Change Act, and creation of jobs as part of a Green New Deal.

Kevin Holland
Accounting Officer
Date: 11 September 2020
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Accountability Report -
Corporate Governance Report

The purpose of the Corporate Governance Report is to explain the composition and organisation of
Invest NI's governance structures and how they support the achievement of its objectives.

Directors’ Report
The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the group and
parent entity for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Results
The net expenditure for the yearis £328,954,000 (2019: £86,125,000).

Directors
The directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements are the
Board members as follows:

Board members

Rose Mary Stalker

Chair (Appointed 1 August 2019)

Deborah Lange

Gerard O'Hare

(Retired 31 March 2020)

Ken Nelson

(Retired 31 March 2020)

Scott Rutherford

(Retired 31 March 2020)

Mark Nodder

Mark Sweeney

Padraig Canavan

Brian Baird

Judith Totten

Mark Ennis

Chair, Retired 31 July 2019)

Colin Coffey

Appointed 1 April 2020)

Kieran Kennedy

Appointed 1 April 2020

Kevin Kingston

Appointed 1 April 2020

Marie-Therese McGivern

Appointed 1 April 2020

Michael McQuillan

—_~ e~~~ |~ |~

)
)
)
)

Appointed 1 April 2020

Executive Leadership Team

Kevin Holland*

Chief Executive

Jeremy Fitch

Executive Director, Business Solutions

Brian Dolaghan

Executive Director, Business and Sector Development

Mel Chittock

Executive Director, Finance and Operations

Denise Black**

Executive Director, Human Resources

Alan McKeown***

Executive Director, Regional Business

Donal Durkan

Executive Director, Strategy

Steve Harper

Executive Director, International Business

Peter Harbinson

Executive Director, Communications
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Alastair Hamilton retired on 31 December 2019. Kevin Holland was appointed to the role of Chief Executive on
21 October 2019.

Amanda Braden commenced a career break on 5 May 2020. Denise Black was appointed to the role of
Executive Director, Human Resources on 20 April 2020.

Des Gartland was Acting Executive Director, Regional Business until 3 June 2019. Alan McKeown was
appointed on this date.

Olive Hill retired from the role of Executive Director, Business Strategy Implementation on 23 April 2019.

The activities of the Business Strategy Implementation Group were redistributed throughout the
organisation from this date.

Organisational Structure

Chief Executive

Kevin Holland

Executive Executive
Director Director

Executive Executive Executive Executive Executive Executive
Director Director Director Director Director Director
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Prompt Payment Policy

Invest NIis committed to the prompt payment of invoices for goods and services received in accordance
with the Better Payment Practice Code. Unless otherwise stated in the contract, paymentis due within
30days of delivery of the invoice or of the goods and services, whichever is later. During 2019-20

Invest NI paid approximately 98 per cent of invoices (2018-19: 98 per cent) within this standard.

In 2008 the Finance Minister announced that Northern Ireland Departments had been set a target
of ensuring that invoices are paid within ten working days, in order to help local businesses. During
2019-20 Invest NI paid approximately 96 per cent of invoices (2018-19: 96 per cent) within the ten
working day target.
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Register of Interests

The Chairman, Board members, and ELT are required to register all interests, direct or indirect,
which members of the public might reasonably think could influence their judgment. The Register
of Interests is available for publicinspection by contacting the Chairman’s Office, Invest N1, Bedford
Square, Bedford Street, Belfast, BT2 7ES.

Personal Data Related Incidents

During the year there were no Personal Data Related Incidents that were required to be reported to the
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) for review. Further information on data security is provided in
the Governance Statement.

Estate Management Strategy

With the exception of assets held by Invest NI for its own use and Linum Chambers, which is held by
BSDL as aninvestment property, our land and property portfolio is held exclusively for development by
client companies, to facilitate Northern Ireland’s long-term strategic economic development.

Invest NI Complaints and Feedback Process

Invest NI continues to promote a customer focussed culture placing the needs of our clients and their
customer experience at the heart of everything we do. Occasionally our customers may feel that we
fall short of our own standards and our Complaints and Feedback Process affords us the opportunity
to address instances when something goes wrong and to identify areas in which we can make
improvements. It also gives us the ability to recognise good experiences through the recording of
positive feedback.

Our complaints process is designed to be accessible and user friendly for our customers. Complaints
are acknowledged within one working day, and we strive to issue a response within a target of 10
working days. If we are unable to provide a response within this timescale revised timelines will be
clearly communicated to our customer with the reviewed response date advised.

If we are unable to resolve the complaint to our customers’ satisfaction at this stage a review can
be requested through the office of the Chief Executive. Should the customer be dissatisfied with
the outcome of this review they may refer their complaint to the Northern Ireland Public Services
Ombudsman for consideration.

In 2019-20 a total of 8 (2018-19: 6) complaints were received. Of these complaints 5 were responded

to within our target of 10 working days. When we were unable to reply within this timeframe, for
example due to the complexity of investigation or because we were waiting for further information,
our customers were kept fully advised of the revised schedules. A total of 27 cases of negative feedback
(2018-19: 24) were recorded that did not require a response within the 10 working day target. One
request for a Formal Review was received (this complaint was not upheld on review).

In March 2020, the Northern Ireland Public Services Ombudsman (NIPSO) concluded its investigation
into a complaint about Invest NI that was originally referred to its office in April 2017. The final report
did not uphold the complaint.
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The details of all complaints are recorded centrally, and feedback is sought through questionnaires.
Theinformation we hold is then analysed to identify trends or themes to drive improvement in

our processes and services. Issues identified included poor communication, timescales in claims
payments or claims processes, the programme development process and perceived religious bias
(note that this last complaint was not upheld). In all cases where the complaint was upheld or partially
upheld (three out of the eight complaints received), further engagement was undertaken to remedy
the situation and in two cases an apology was issued.

Invest NI's progress against the ten day response target is reported through our Standards of Service.

Further information on the handling and monitoring of complaints can be found in the Invest NI
Customer Charter and, more specifically in the Invest NI Complaints Procedure, both of which are
available on the Invest NI website.

Statement of Accounting Officer's Responsibilities

Under the Industrial Development Act (Northern Ireland) 2002, DfE (with approval from the
Department of Finance (DoF)) has directed Invest NI to prepare, for each financial year, a statement of
accountsinthe form and on the basis set outin the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on
an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Invest NI and of its income
and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the
Government Financial Reporting Manualand in particular to:

+ observe the Accounts Direction issued by DfE with the approval of DoF, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent
basis;

+ makejudgements and estimates on areasonable basis;

+ state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting
Manualhave been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts; and

« prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and

« confirmthatthe Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and
take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgments required for
determining thatitis fair, balanced and understandable.

The Accounting Officer of DfE has designated the Chief Executive as the Accounting Officer of Invest
NI. Theresponsibilities as an Accounting Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and
reqularity of the public finances for which the Accounting Officer is answerable, for keeping proper
records and for safequarding Invest NI's assets, are set out in Managing Public Money Northern
Ireland (MPMNI) published by DoF.

As Accounting Officer I have taken all the steps I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that Invest NI's auditors are aware of that information. So
farasIamaware, thereis no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.



34 ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Governance Statement
Year ended 31 March 2020

Introduction and scope of responsibility

This Governance Statement sets out the governance structures, risk management and internal control
procedures that have operated within Invest NI during the financial year 2019-20 and up to the date of
approval of the Annual Report and Accounts, and accords with DoF guidance.

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of Invest NI's policies, aims and objectives, whilst safequarding the
public funds and Departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the
responsibilities assigned to me in MPMNI.

Invest NI's Governance Framework

Permanent Secretary

(Principal Accounting Officer)

Invest NI

—l
Remuneration
Committee

Audit & Risk
Committee
I -A;st-Jre-ln-ce- ! Chief Executive
Lo (Accounting Officer)

A 4

BSDL Group

s N
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Responsibilities of the Board and Chair

Invest NI has a Board comprising a Chair and not fewer than 10 or more than 20 other members. Board
members are appointed by Dft in line with the Code of Practice issued by the Commissioner for Public
Appointments for Northern Ireland. The tenure of Invest NI's Chair, Mark Ennis, ended in July 2019,
with Rose Mary Stalker appointed to the position from 1 August 2019. The terms of three other Board
members came to an end on 31 March 2020, with five new appointments taking up their roles from 1
April 2020. As aresult, there are currently 12 Board members (including the Chair).

The Board usually meets 10 times each year and the meetings are attended by the Chief Executive
and members of the ELT. The role of the Board is to establish Invest NI's overall strategic direction

and provide advice to the Departmental Minister on matters relating to the organisation. The Board
oversees the achievement of Invest NI's objectives and targets and has responsibility for ensuring the
highest standards of corporate governance, efficiency and propriety in the use of public funds.

Therole of the Chair is to provide leadership, strategic support, corporate governance direction, and
torepresent Invest NI in the local and international business communities. The Chair is personally
responsible to the Departmental Minister for ensuring that Invest NI's strategies are compatible with
those of the Department, that Invest NI meets its agreed objectives and targets, and for probity in the
conduct of the organisation’s affairs.

Theroles of the Chair and Board are set out in the Management Statement and Financial
Memorandum and in the Board Operating Framework, which was last updated in October 2019 and is
available on Invest NI's website.

Conflicts of interests

Board members are asked to declare any conflict of interest related to meeting agendas or casework
panels they may be attending. On the identification of any conflict of interest, either the relevant Board
member(s) would be excluded from the discussions/decision-making related to the conflicted area of
business or, in the case of casework panels, an alternative Board member would be selected. Further
details regarding Related Party Transactions are on page 131.

Board performance and effectiveness

In 2019-20 the Board met 10 times, with the March 2020 meeting held remotely due to COVID-19
restrictions. All subsequent meetings to-date have also been held remotely. Within the Board
Operating Framework there is an agreed Code of Practice for Board members, which incorporates the
Principles of Public Life. All Board members are given Induction Training, which covers the structure,
vision, values and objectives of the organisation; introductions to the senior management team; and
more detailed sessions on aspects of the role, including a specific element focused on delegations
including casework consideration, assessment and approval. Induction training held in April and May
2020 for new Board members also served as refresher training for existing members.
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In February 2020, the Board undertook its annual strategy workshop, which was designed to enable
Board members to provide input to the development of Invest NI's next Business Strategy. The
workshop explored the key priorities within the New Decade, New Approach agreement and set

out the economic policy context and wider macro-environmental factors that will inform the next
Programme for Government. As the Business Strateqy is further developed, the Board will continue to
provide direction and input, particularly in light of the economicimpact of the COVID-19 crisis.

Board attendance 2019-20

Name of Board meetings Audit & Risk Remuneration
Board member attended per Committee (ARC) Committee meetings
Board member meetings attended per attended per
(out of a possible 10%) Committee member Committee member
(out of a possible 4%) (out of a possible 2?)
Rose Mary Stalker 10 2? 2
Brian Baird 10 N/A N/A
Padraig Canavan 8 N/A N/A
Deborah Lange 10 4 2
Ken Nelson 9 N/A N/A
Gerard O’Hare 6 2 1
Mark Nodder €l 13 N/A
Scott Rutherford 7 3 N/A
Mark Sweeney 10 N/A N/A
Judith Totten 8 3 N/A
Mark Ennis 34 N/A 2

Notes:

1. Except where noted.

2.0ut of a possible 2 (stepped down from ARC after appointment to position of Chair in August 2019).
3.0utof a possible 2 (appointed to ARCin September 2019).

4.0ut of apossible 3 (term ended in July 2019).

Board Succession Management

The tenure of Invest NI's Chair, Mark Ennis, expired on 31 July 2019, and terms for three other Board
members came to an end on 31 March 2020. As part of a succession strategy agreed with DfE, the
Department carried out separate recruitment exercises that resulted in Rose Mary Stalker being
appointed as Chair from 1 August 2019 and five further Board members (Colin Coffey, Kieran Kennedy,
Kevin Kingston, Marie-Therese McGivern and Michael McQuillan) taking up their positions from
1April 2020.

Board Committees
The discharge of some of the Board’s responsibilities is delegated to the following Committees:
+ Audit & Risk Committee

*  Remuneration Committee
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Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for reviewing and providing independent assurance to the
Board and Accounting Officer on:

+ theadequacy of theinternal control environment;

+ riskmanagement and corporate governance arrangements;
« compliance matters; and

+ internal and external auditissues.

During 2019-20, the Committee comprised the Chair (Deborah Lange) plus four other Board members
(Rose Mary Stalker was replaced by Mark Nodder following her appointment to the role of Chair).

The terms of two ARC members (Scott Rutherford and Gerard O’Hare) came to an end in March

2020, with Kevin Kingston and Colin Coffey appointed to replace them. Meetings are also attended

by the Chief Executive; Executive Director of Finance & Operations; the Director of Finance, Risk

and Assurance Division; Risk Manager; the Director of Performance, Compliance and Co-ordination
Division; and representatives from DfE, Northern Ireland Audit Office (NIAO), and Internal Audit
Service (IAS). The Committee met four times during 2019-20.

The Committee’s Terms of Reference include an annual commitment to review its own performance.
In January 2020 a self-assessment exercise was conducted, comprising commissioned emailed
returns from the Committee based on a checklist derived from ‘Key questions for an Audit and Risk
Assurance Committee to ask’ (Annex F of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee Handbook (NI),
which was updated in March 2018). While the Committee identified some areas forimprovement,
which have beenincorporated into an action plan, the results demonstrate that members felt that
the Committee was operating effectively and adhering to good or best practice in all areas.

The Committee continues to operate a ‘Rolling Agenda’ system that ensures that all majorissues are
reviewed at least on an annual basis. Therolling agenda was reformatted in October 2019 and the
update also reflects changes made to the process for reviewing Risk Registers. Standing items on the
agenda of each regular meetinginclude a review of the Corporate Risk Register, detailed discussion
on key corporaterisks, an update on progress against the agreed Internal Audit plan, internal and
external audit recommendations and updates on current fraud and whistleblowing investigations.
Other topics covered by the Committee in 2019-20 included actions arising from the Board Risk
Workshop held in November 2019; GDPR compliance; Procurement practices; Management of External
Delivery Organisations (EDOs); Accountability Grids; Business Continuity Planning, including the risk
of Cyber Security attacks; Department of Finance guidance on the move to Partnership Agreements
between departments and their Arm’s Length Bodies; Complaints & Feedback; Brexit Planning and

a Brexit-specific Risk Register; review of Core Policies; and review of the Risk Management Strategy
and Policy.

In the Audit & Risk Committee Annual Report for 2019-20 the Chair confirmed that the Committee
considered the assurance available was sufficient to support the Board and the Accounting Officerin
their decision-taking, their accountability obligations and the overall management of risk. Following
each Audit & Risk Committee meeting, the Chair provides a verbal report and update to the full Board,
with full written minutes provided by the Committee secretariat.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee meets at least annually and is responsible for agreeing the
performance indicators against which the Chief Executive is measured, and to present
recommendations to DfE on any annual pay increase for the Chief Executive. The Committee
comprises the Chair and three other Board members, with meetings attended by the Executive
Director, Human Resources. The committee met twice during 2019-20.

Board Working Groups

Board Working Groups, in contrast to the Committees referenced above, are established to undertake
a specific task and to report back to Board within a defined timeframe. In general, Working Groups tend
to be of a more temporary and transient nature designed to focus on current, strategicissues facing
Invest NI and to draw on the pertinent expertise of Board members. They can also, where appropriate,
provide Board members with an element of oversight in line with the corporate governance framework.

The topics currently covered by Board Working Groups include Sub-regional, Access to Finance,
Competence Centres and Business Strategy.

Executive Committees
In addition to the Board Committees, there are also a number of Executive Committees:

Internal Audit Committee

The Internal Audit Committee is an executive committee responsible for reviewing internal compliance
issues, implementing action plans and audit recommendations, developing internal control systems
and providing advice to the Audit & Risk Committee. The Committee met three times during 2019-

20 and was chaired by the Executive Director, Finance & Operations. Issues discussed included:
reviews of the audit strategy and annual plan; progress against the annual audit plan; reviews of
External Delivery Organisations; assurance provided by other bodies; and updates on current fraud
investigations. The Committee also includes a number of other Executive Directors, the Director of
Finance, Risk and Assurance Division and the Director of Performance, Compliance and Co-ordination
Division, with representatives from IAS also in attendance. The terms of reference were last updated in
February 2018.

Executive Leadership Team

The ELT, which reports directly to the Chief Executive, has responsibility for the strategic direction
and operating effectiveness of Invest NI and for promoting an effective financial control and
budgetary management framework. The ELT is responsible for achieving Invest NI's goals and
targets, as set outin the corporate and operating plans, and oversees the delivery of Invest NI's
range of programmes and services.

The ELT meets at least three times per month focussing on operations and strategic direction
and once a month on financial and governance matters. It reqularly reviews the performance
of the organisation against agreed targets, monitors budget requirements and outturn, and
ensures implementation of agreed actions to achieve Invest NI's strategic, operational and
financial objectives.
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Other guidance and policies
Code of Ethics and Conduct

Invest NI operates a robust Code of Ethics applicable to all staff members. The code sets outin
particular the obligations of staff in respect of private interests and possible conflict with public

duty, the disclosure of official information and political activities. Invest NI's policy on handling and
managing possible conflicts of interest is stated in its staff handbook. All staff are required to disclose,
through an annual declaration of interests, any area of actual, potential or perceived conflict with
theinterests of Invest NI. Individual members of staff are not involved in any casework evaluation

or tendering assessment process in which they might have any potential conflict of interest and the
ELT is required to ensure that timely and appropriate action is taken to resolve any other perceived
conflicts. Procedures are also in place to ensure that all gifts and hospitality given and received are
registered and monitored by the Directors.

In addition, all staff have a clearly defined responsibility not to misuse information acquired in their
official duties or their official position to further their private interests or those of others.

Bribery, Fraud Prevention and Whistleblowing Policies

Invest NI requires all staff to act honestly and with integrity and to safequard the public resources

for which they are responsible. Invest NI procedures stipulate that any suspected or alleged fraud
(anonymous or otherwise) must be investigated and, where substantiated, reported to DfE’s
Corporate Governance team, who in turn notify the Northern Ireland Audit Office and the Department
of Finance. Cases are referred to the police where appropriate. Invest NI continues to raise staff
awareness of their responsibility to safequard public resources against the risk of fraud, as well

as their responsibilities regarding bribery and encourages staff to raise their concerns in line with
public disclosure legislation.

A summary of the activity related to these policies in 2019-20is outlined in the table below.

Governance Process Guidance Documents Incidents Reported in Year

Anti-Bribery Compliance Policy

. None
and Guidance Manual

Bribery

Public Interest Disclosure Whistleblowing Policy None

Three cases of suspected fraud

were notified to the NIAO in line

with the Invest NI Fraud Response
Anti-Fraud Policy and Fraud Plan. Two of these cases have
Response Plan subsequently been closed with

no further action required.

Information gatheringis ongoing

inthe third case.

Fraud Prevention
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In addition, four further cases of suspected fraud arose during 2019-20. In three cases, the claims were
not substantiated and no further action was required. The fourth case is being assessed to determine
if further action and notification is warranted. Two further cases, which had been notified in 2018-19,
are stillunder investigation, as are the two cases reported under the Whistleblowing Policy in 2018-19.

Progress on outstanding cases is reported to the Audit & Risk Committee and the Internal
Audit Committee.

Invest NI's compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

The Corporate Governance in Central Government Departments: Code of Good Practice NI (the Code)
seeks to promote good corporate governance in central government departments. The focus of the
Codeis on ministerial departments but as a NDPB, Invest NI is compliant with the practices set outin
the Code wherever this is relevant, practical and suits our business needs.

Relationship with subsidiary company NI-CO

The Management Statement and Financial Memorandum between Invest NI and DfE, most recently
updated in October 2018, contains the relationship framework between Invest NI and its subsidiary
NI-CO. It sets out the responsibilities and reporting requirements between the Company, Invest
NIand DfE. As designated Accounting Officer for Invest NI and its subsidiary companies, the Chief
Executive of Invest NIis ultimately responsible to the Departmental Permanent Secretary in his

role as DfE Accounting Officer. In terms of overall governance arrangements, a schedule of formal
meetings between Invest NI and NI-CO is in place, including a formal, annual review meeting at year
end. Informal, ad-hoc contact is maintained with NI-CO throughout the year. The NI-CO Board meets
quarterly and NI-CO submits full sets of the Board papers in advance of each Board meeting for review
and comment by Invest NI, as appropriate. The Director of Invest NI's Performance, Compliance and
Co-ordination Division attends meetings of NI-CO’s Audit & Risk Committee.

The tenure of the NI-CO Chair and three Board Members is due to come to an end in September 2020.
Given the current uncertainty due to the COVID pandemic, and in liaison with the Public Appointments
Commission, these appointments will be extended for a further 12 months to September 2021.

Relationship with BSDL Group

During 2013-14 the acquisition of the BSDL Group was completed, allowing Invest NI to take ownership
of the Bedford Street building. The BSDL Board meets regularly and financial reporting for the group

is consolidated within the Invest NI annual accounts. The BSDL Group Directors, comprising the

Invest NI Executive Directors of Human Resources and Finance and Operations, present the audited
BSDL annual financial statements to the Accounting Officer prior to consolidation into the Invest NI
annual accounts. The Group Directors receive no remuneration from BSDL. The Invest NI policies and
procedures, including all governance arrangements, have been adopted by the BSDL group and during
2018 the companies were classified by HM Treasury as Non Departmental Public Bodies. As such any
significant governance issues arising would be reported in the six-monthly assurance statement

and brought before the Invest NI Audit & Risk Committee and Board as required. No such issues were
identified in 2019-20.
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Relationships with Arm’s Length Bodies

Written contractual or partnership agreements arein place with Arm’s Length Bodies (known as EDOs)
or Service Providers who deliver specific services or activities on behalf of Invest NI. These agreements
also set out the performance and reporting requirements, which in turn are monitored by designated
managers within Invest NI. Detailed guidance on the commissioning and management of EDOs is
available to all staff via the Invest Nl intranet. As part of the overall internal audit service provided

by DfE, a rolling inspection programme of EDOs and their management by Invest NI is carried out by
external consultants. The most recent contract for this work expired in May 2019, after which work has
continued to complete the programme from 2018-19.

As aresult, no new inspections were carried out in 2019-20. The Internal Audit Committee and the
Audit & Risk Committee have confirmed that they are content that sufficient assurance has been
provided by the rolling programme of inspections and that the lack of new inspections commenced
2019-20 does not represent a cause for concern. A summary of the outcomes of the work carried out
during 2019-20 can be seenin the Internal Audit section of this statement.

Ministerial directions

In March 2020 the Small Business Grant Scheme was launched by the Department for the Economy
and the estimated cost of £220m was recognised in Invest NI accounts. This was an NI Executive
initiative to provide one-off grants to small businesses to help them to meet their ongoing business
costs during the COVID-19 crisis. The scheme was subject to a Ministerial Direction from the
Economy Minister.

The risk and control framework

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to areasonable level rather than to eliminate
all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
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*Northern Ireland Guide to Expenditure, Appraisal & Evaluation (NIGEAE).
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Risk Management policy

The Board, Chief Executive, and the ELT have overall responsibility for determining the risk
management policy within Invest NI. This includes designing, implementing and maintaining

risk management systems to identify and manage those risks that could adversely impact the
achievement of the organisation’s objectives. The organisation’s risk management arrangements
are documented in the Risk Management Strategy and Policy.

Risk management is increasingly integrated into the corporate planning and decision-making
processes of the organisation. During the year bi-annual assurance statements were submitted to
DfE, providing an account of the internal control matters arising in each of the reporting periods.
Details of significant risks (in the ‘Very High’ category) are reqularly sent to DfE for monitoring.
The Audit & Risk Committee is provided with a copy of the Corporate Risk Register and a summary
of any additions, deletions and movement in the ‘Very High' category. Through these processes,
the Board and the ELT demonstrate that procedures are in place for verifying that aspects of risk
management and internal control are reqularly reviewed and reported on.

The Risk Register is subject to a quarterly review by a group that includes the Risk Manager, Finance
Director and the Director of Performance, Compliance and Co-ordination. The group undertakes
anindependent challenge function and works closely with Divisions to refine, articulate and
manage risks at Corporate and Group level. Any fully managed risks are removed from the Register
and kept under review, while new risks, both at Corporate and Group level, are brought forward as
considered necessary.

Theimpact of the COVID-19 crisis featured heavily on the updates to many of the key risks for
the quarter ending 31 March 2020. In order to capture more fully those risks caused by the global
pandemic, a COVID-19 specificrisk register has been collated and was reviewed by the Audit &
Risk Committee at its May 2020 meeting.

During 2019-20 four new risks were identified and added to the Corporate Risk Register as part of
the review process. No risks were removed and/or downgraded from Corporate to Group Registers.
Key risks and uncertainties have been discussed in more detail on page 3 and page 13.

Invest NI continued to monitor longer term threats through the Emerging Risk Register, which
was introduced in September 2015 to analyse developing hazards that were relatively remote but
which had the potential toimpact on the organisation’s business. In September 2019, the review
of the Risk Management Strategy and Policy clarified responsibilities for review of the Emerging
Risk Register, meaning that it now comes to Board twice per year for a full review and discussion.
The Board meeting in November 2019 featured a risk workshop, primarily focussing on a review of
the Emerging Risk Register, with the subsequent actions (primarily changes and additions to the
Emerging Risk Register, and suggestions for escalations to the Corporate Risk Register) reported
regularly to the Audit & Risk Committee.

The Audit & Risk Committee and the Internal Audit Committee met on a quarterly/three times
annually basis respectively, to review and advise on the risk management, control and governance
arrangements. These include audit issues arising during the period, key projects, ongoing
operational matters and investigations.
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Business Continuity

Business Continuity and Recovery Plans have been developed for the organisation and responsibilities
have been clearly defined and communicated. Business Continuity arrangements are regularly
monitored, tested and improved.

Business Continuity Plans have been established in order to ensure the continuation of Invest NI
operationsin the event of an exit from the EU on a ‘no deal’ basis. Business Continuity has also been
a consideration as part of the organisation’s deliberations around Smart Working.

An update on Business Continuity was provided to the Board in October 2019 and to the Audit & Risk
Committeein February 2020.

Due to the COVID-19 global pandemic, Invest NI has successfully put into practice its Business
Continuity arrangements. Staff are equipped to work flexibly and securely from home and from arange
of other locations. During the pandemic the organisation has been able to maintain its operations

for staff and customers while following Government & Public Health Guidelines. The organisation
hasissued regular communications to all staff to keep them updated and continues to monitor the
situation closely.

Data Security

Following the annual Information Security Audit in November and December 2019, Invest NI
continues to be accredited to the international security standard ISO 27001. The accreditation
provides assurance that Invest NI protects the confidentiality, integrity and availability of corporate
information. A review of Invest NI's Information Security Management System was also carried out

by IAS during 2019-20, with no significant issues identified. Security matters are reviewed by an
Information Governance Group which met four times during the year. All approved USB devices, Invest
NI laptops and mobile data devices are encrypted. Mandatory compliance training, internal audit
assessments and risk assessments are performed on a reqgular basis to drive information security
improvements.

During the year there were a number of losses involving portable data storage devices and incidents
relating to unauthorised disclosure of information, the majority of which had a mitigated risk rating
of ‘Low’. Seven incidents had a mitigated rating of ‘Medium’ due to the nature of the information
disclosed or due to a breach in policy. One incident had a mitigated rating of ‘High’ due to the personal
nature of the information involved. However, none were deemed necessary to report to the ICO as no
significant risk was posed to individuals. All of the incidents were contained and mitigations putin
place against future risk. Communications on information security matters were issued on areqular
basis throughout the year. All staff have completed annual mandatory information security training
during quarter 1 of 2019-20.

Invest NI's Data Protection Officer (DPO) continues to work with all parts of the business on the
ongoing compliance with the requirements of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), which
cameinto effectin May 2018, and to promote the principles of ‘Data Protection by Design and by
Default’. The DPO provides assurance to the Audit & Risk Committee on the progress of the GDPR
Compliance Programme. All staff have completed annual mandatory data protection awareness
training during quarter 4 of 2019-20.
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A Data Protection Impact Assessment was carried out in preparation for the launch of the Smart
Working Initiative and an action plan was developed to address the risks identified. With the wider,
temporary move to remote working as a result of the onset of the COVID-19 crisis, work is continuing
on any final, outstanding elements of the action plan.

Review of effectiveness

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. My review is informed by the work of the internal auditors, by the Executive Directors within
Invest NI, who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework, and by comments made by the external auditors in their ‘Report to those Charged with
Governance’ and other reports. The Audit & Risk Committee, on behalf of the Board, reviews the range
of available assurance in formulating its opinion on the overall effectiveness of the controls in place,
with the Committee’s Annual Report concluding that controls are operating effectively. T have noted the
Audit & Risk Committee’s opinion in my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control and
a planto address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the systemiisin place.

Group Assurance Statements on Internal Control

During 2019-20 each of the Executive Directors conducted a quarterly review and provided Assurance
Statements on Internal Control for their areas of responsibility. These reviews and the completion

of the Assurance Statements were supported by the use of Internal Control checklists. Key findings
were discussed with me and this work helped inform my bi-annual Assurance Statements to the DfE
Permanent Secretary.

Internal Audit

IAS, the internal auditor of Invest NI, operates to standards defined in the Public Sector Internal Audit
Standards. The work of IAS carried out in the year was based on the four year (2017-18 to 2020-21)
Audit Strategy, which was formulated with due consideration to the key corporate and operational
risks to which Invest NIis exposed. The strategy and each annual plan, including the analysis of risks,
arereviewed and agreed with the Internal Audit Committee and Invest NI management prior to
approval by the Audit & Risk Committee, which approved a three year strategy at its meeting in May
2017, with a one year extension (covering 2020-21) approved in February 2018.

Progress against the annual Internal Audit Plan is reviewed at each meeting of the Internal Audit
Committee and at each regular Audit & Risk Committee meeting. IAS submits regular reports,
including the Head of Internal Audit’s independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of
Invest NI's system of internal control and the management of key business risks, together with
recommendations for improvement.

The table below provides a summary of the audit activity completed in line with the 2019-20 audit plan.

3 0 0 2

Final Reports

Draft Reports 3 0 0 0
Fieldwork 0 0 0 0
Notes:

1. Refers to audit assignments for which an audit opinion is not required.
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No IAS Audit Reports received a limited opinion in 2019-20 and all reports have beenissued in
at least draft form. At the request of management, one review was deferred until 2020-21 due
to schedulingissues. Fieldwork has now started on this review. One review from the 2018-19
programme is not yet at final report stage but has now been issued in draft.

In addition to the formal reporting IAS responded to a number of requests for advice from Invest NI
management.

IAS manages the rolling programme of EDO audit work through the engagement of an external
service provider. The contract for this service expired in May 2019. Although work continued past
this date on the 2018-19 programme and on follow up reports from previous years, there was no new
schedule of work for 2019-20. However, due to the fact that all existing EDOs have been subject to
review in recent years and no significant issues have been identified to date, IAS was content that it
had sufficient assurance to provide its overall audit opinion. The Internal Audit Committee and the
Audit & Risk Committee have confirmed that they are content with this position.

IAS has provided an overall satisfactory audit opinion (the highest rating available) with regard to
the adequacy and effectiveness of Invest NI's risk management, control and governance processes
for the 2019-20 year. IAS’s overall audit opinion reflects the positive results from the audit work
undertakenintheyear.

Accountability Grids

Since the early 1980s a number of reports have been presented by bodies such as the NIAO and Public
Accounts Committee, Westminster or Stormont, making recommendations relevant to corporate
governance arrangements within Invest NI or its predecessor bodies. All recommendations that
directly related to DfE and/or Invest NI are now recorded in an ‘Accountability Grid’ to ensure that all
necessary actions are being progressed.

This is supplemented by recommendations made in reports related to other organisations that also
had animpact on, or potential relevance to, Invest NI.

Atotal of 31 recommendations have been added to the Accountability Grids as a result of the
circulation by DfE’s Corporate Governance, Accountability and Casework team of a summary of
responses to a number of Westminster Public Accounts Committees and an NIAO report on the
Social Investment Fund. Following a review of recommendations added in previous years, a number
have been removed due to a lack of relevance to Invest NI. As a result, there are a total of 363
recommendations on the Accountability Grids.

Six of the 31recommendations added this year are relevant to Invest NI's operations. They all emanate
from the NIAO report on the Social Investment Fund and focus on the need to provide clear audit trails
when awarding public money. Details have been shared with relevant Invest NI officials.

A summary of the Accountability Grids was reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee in November 2019.

As aresult of the review of the recommendations, Invest NI is taking forward a small number of
actions, which represent minor enhancements to existing arrangements. No major gaps or system
issues have been identified.
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NIAO Reports

There were no Invest NI specific Value for Money studies published by the NIAO in 2019-20 and there
are currently no such examinations planned. The NIAO has commenced work on a report looking at
“Promoting Entrepreneurship Culture and Start-ups” and Invest NI has provided relevant information
to assist with this work. Other reports issued by the NIAO are reviewed for relevance to Invest NI
operations and actions are taken as appropriate.

Significant internal control problems

No significant internal control problems have been identified.

Public Accounts Committee Issues

There were no Public Accounts Committeeissues raisedin 2019-20.

Small Business Grant Scheme

As outlined above, in March 2020 the Small Business Grant Scheme was launched by the Department
for the Economy in response to the unprecedented impact of COVID-19. This was an NI Executive
initiative to provide one-off emergency grants to small businesses to help mitigate the potential
threat of business closures.

In order to deliver this emergency grant DfE agreed a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with
Invest NI and DoF / Land and Property Service (LPS). Under the terms of the MOU, Invest NI's only
responsibility was to record the full estimated costs of the grant scheme on an accruals basis in 2019-
20 budgets and accounts. DfE took responsibility on behalf of the Executive for the design and delivery
of the scheme, and also assumed responsibility for any potential error, fraud or losses arising from the
administration of the scheme. DoF (via LPS) were responsible for the identification and checking of
eligible businesses and arranging the payments from the DfE bank account to those businesses.

The cost of the scheme for 2019-20 (£220m), together with the associated funding, was provided by
DfE to Invest NI for recordingin the 2019-20 accounts.

As outlinedin the C&AG report, during the course of their audit, NIAO has reviewed the payments
made by LPS in respect of the scheme. The sample testing identified three errors totalling £30,000.
The extrapolation of this sample indicates the potential for irreqular expenditure of £13.5m (6.1%) to
beincludedin the £220m that was provided to Invest NI forinclusion in the 2019-20 accounts. As a
result the C&AG has issued a qualification on the DfE and Invest NI 2019-20 accounts in respect of this
expenditure.

The scheme was required to be designed and delivered by DfE and LPS at a rapid pace to urgently
combat theimpact of COVID-19 on businesses and processes were put in place to ensure that all
reasonable governance and control mechanisms were established in advance of payments, albeit
ina proportionate manner given the nature of the crisis and the extraordinary urgency with which
the scheme was introduced. It was in recognition of these particular circumstances that the scheme
was subject to a Direction from the Economy Minister, which was provided following discussion and
agreement at the wider Executive.
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Conclusion

I have considered the evidence provided with regards to the production of the Annual Governance
Statement and the independent advice and assurance provided by the Audit & Risk Committee.

I conclude that Invest NI has satisfactory governance and risk management systems with effective
plans to ensure continuous improvement.
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Remuneration and Staff Report

Remuneration Report
Year ended 31 March 2020

The Remuneration and Staff Report sets out Invest NI's Remuneration Policy for our Board members
and ELT, reports on how that policy has been implemented and sets out the amounts awarded to
Board members and ELT and, where relevant, the link between performance and remuneration.

It also contributes to Invest NI's accountability to the Northern Ireland Assembly and best practice
with corporate governance norms and codes.

Chairman and Board members

The Chairman and Board members are appointed in accordance with the Code of Practice of the Office

of the Commissioner for Public Appointments for Northern Ireland. The Chairman and Board members
are appointed for a fixed period of up to five years. Thereafter they may be re-appointed in accordance

with the Code of Practice.

Theremuneration of the Chairman and Board is set by DfE. Increases are calculated in line with the
recommendations of the Senior Salaries Review Body. There are no arrangements in place for the
payment of a bonus.

Neither the Chairman nor any Board members receive pension contributions from Invest NI or DfE.
Invest NI reimburses the Chairman and Board members for any incidental expenses incurred for
carrying out their duties relevant to the organisation.

The remuneration of the Chairman and Board members is as follows (the informationin the table

below has been subject to audit):
Salary Benefits in kind
(£'000) (to nearest £100)
" 2o920| 20819  zom920] 201819

Mark Ennis

(Chair until 31 July 2019) 16 43 ] ]
(R(?r?ael':/lf?gnsltiltgijst 2019) 34 12 400 i
Ken Nelson 13 12 - -
Gerard O’Hare 13 12 - -
Scott Rutherford 13 12 - -
Deborah Lange 13 12 300 200
Mark Nodder 13 12 - -
Mark Sweeney 13 12 700 -
Padraig Canavan 13 12 - -
Brian Baird 13 12 - -

Judith Totten 13 12 - -
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Benefits In Kind

The monetary value of benefits in kind covers any benefits provided by the employer and treated by
HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable emolument.

Reimbursement of Board members’ travel expenses in respect of journeys made to Invest NI
Headquarters has been determined by HMRC to be taxable emoluments. As a result, travel expenses
reimbursed in respect of these journeys are now included above as a benefitin kind together with the
related tax on the benefit that is carried by Invest NI.

Executive Leadership Team
The ELT comprises of the Chief Executive and Executive Directors.

Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Committee of the Board is responsible for agreeing the performance indicators
against which the Chief Executive is measured, and to present recommendations to DfE on any annual
pay increase for the Chief Executive. The annual pay increases for other members of ELT are paid on
the same arrangements that apply to the Senior Civil Service (SCS). The pay policy for the Northern
Ireland public sector, including SCS, is normally approved by the Minister of Finance. In the absence of
an Executive, the Department of Finance’s Permanent Secretary set the 2019-20 NI public sector pay
policy (October 2019) in line with the overarching HMT parameters and in a manner consistent with
the approach taken by the previous Finance Minister in 2016-17. Annual NICS pay awards are made
inthe context of the wider public sector pay policy. The pay award for NICS staff, including SCS staff,
for 2019-20 was announced by DoF on 7 May 2020 and will be implemented in due course.

The pay of SCSis based on a system of pay scales for each SCS grade containing a number of pay points
from minima to maxima, allowing progression towards the maxima based on performance.

Service Contracts

As with all staff appointments, ELT appointments are made in accordance with Invest NI's
recruitment policy. The policy requires appointments to be made on merit on the basis of fairand
open competition.

All ELT members hold permanent appointments with the organisation that are open-ended. Early
termination, other than for misconduct, would result in these individuals receiving compensation
as setoutin the Civil Service Compensation Scheme.

Furtherinformation about the work of the Civil Service Commissioners for Northern Ireland can be
found at www.nicscommissioners.org
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Remuneration and pension entitlements

The following sections provide details of the remuneration and pension interests of the ELT
(theinformationin the table below has been subject to audit):

Salary Benefits in kind Pension Benefits* Total
(£'000) (to nearest £100) (to nearest £1,000) (£'000)

2019-20 ( 2018-19 | 2019-20 | 2018-19 | 2019-20 | 2018-19 | 2019-20 | 2018-19

Chief Executive:

Kevin 75-80

Holland (170-175 N/A - N/A 30 N/A  105-110 N/A
(from 21 FYE
October 2019) )

Alastair

Hamilton 150-155

** (until 31 (200-205 195-200 - - - 69 150-155 265-270
December FYE)

2019)

Mel
Chittock

Jeremy
Fitch

95-100 95-100 = = 49 41  145-150 130-135

100-105  100-105 = = 51 46 150-155 145-150

Amanda

75-80 60-65 - - 18 38 90-95 100-105
Braden

Bill Scott 35-40

(until 20 _ i )
September N/A (70 75 N/A N/A (111) N/A (70 75)

2018) FYE)

Peter

. 75-80 70-75 - - 29 29 105-110  100-105
Harbinson

(until 23 April
2019) 80 FYE)

75-80 = = 15 27 20-25 100-105

Steve

95-100 95-100 = = 39 39  135-140 130-135
Harper

Tracy

Meharg 70-75

(until7 N/A  (100-105 N/A = N/A 10 N/A 80-85
December FYE)

2018)

Brian

Dolaghan 25-30

(from3 90-95 (85-90 - - 56 8  145-150 35-40
December FYE)

2018)

Donal

Durkan
(from 4 April 75-80 70-75 - - 41 (12) 115-120 60-65
2018)
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Remuneration and pension entitlements (continued)

Salary Benefits in kind Pension Benefits* Total
(£'000) (to nearest £100) (to nearest £1,000) (£'000)
Des

Gartland 40-45
(from 3 10-15(70- g5 79 - - 33 73 40-45  110-115
September 75FYE) FVE
2018to 3 June )
2019)
Alan
55-60
ML (70-75 N/A - N/A 23 N/A  80-85 N/A
(from3June FYE)

2019)

The salary figures included in the table above reflect what was paid to the individuals during 2019-20,
which may include an element of back pay relating to the previous year.

*Pension Benefits

The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as (the real increase in pension
multiplied by 20) plus (the real increase in any lump sum) less (the contributions made by the
individual). The real increases exclude increases due to inflation or any increase or decreases due to a
transfer of pension rights. This figure has been calculated and provided to us by Civil Service Pensions.

** Alastair Hamilton chose not to be covered by the Northern Ireland Civil Service pension schemes
during the reporting year.

Salary

‘Salary’ includes gross salary; overtime; reserved rights to London weighting or London allowances;
recruitment and retention allowances; private office allowances; and any other allowance to the extent
thatitis subject to UK taxation and any severance or ex gratia payments.

Bonuses

No member of ELT received any bonuses during 2019-20 or the previous year.

Pay Multiples

The following section is subject to audit

_ oo o

Band of Highest Paid Director’s Total Remuneration * 200-205 195-200

I AT R
Median Total Remuneration * 37,272 31,760
Ratio 5.4 6.2

* Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, and benefits-in-kind.
It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent
transfer value of pensions.
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Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-
paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in Invest NI in the financial year 2019-20 was
£200,000-£205,000 (2018-19, £195,000-200,000). This was 5.4 times (2018-19, 6.2) the median
remuneration of the workforce, which was £37,272 (2018-19, £31,760). In 2019, the individual at

the median salary point was at Staff Officer Grade but in 2020 this was at Deputy Principal Grade.

The median represents the mid-point of all the salaries in the organisation.

In 2019-20, no employees (2018-19, no employees) received remuneration in excess of the highest-

paid director.

Remuneration ranged from £19,000 to £200,000-205,000 (2018-19 £18,000 to £195,000-200,000).

Pension Entitlements
Pension details of ELT as at 31 March 2020 are as follows (the information in the table below has been

subject to audit):

Kevin Holland
(from 21 October
2019)

Alastair Hamilton

* (until 31 December
2019)

Mel Chittock

Jeremy Fitch**

Amanda Braden

Peter Harbinson

k%

Olive Hill **
(until 23 April 2019)

Steve Harper

Brian Dolaghan

Donal Durkan
(from 4 April 2018)

Accrued pension at
pension age as at
31March 2020 and
related lump sum

0-5plus nil lump
sum

35-40plus 90-95
lump sum

40-45plus 85-90
lumpsum

10-15 plus nil lump
sum

25-30 plus nil lump
sum

25-30plus 80-85
lump sum

5-10 plus nil lump
sum

30-35plus nil lump
sum

35-40 plus 95-100
lump sum

Realincrease
in pension and
related lump sum
at pension age

0-2.5plus nil
lump sum

2.5-5plus0-2.5
lump sum

2.5-5plus0-2.5
lumpsum

0-2.5plusnil
lump sum

0-2.5plusnil
lumpsum

0-2.5plus0-2.5
lump sum

0-2.5plus nil
lump sum

2.5-5plus nil lump
sum

0-2.5plusnil
lump sum

24

736

783

182

540

618

88

555

746

518

668

714

160

488

602

59

489

691

Real
increase
inCETV

18

34

32

26

15

18

39

21

Employer
contribution
to
partnership

pension
account

20,000
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Pension Entitlements (continued)

Accrued pension at Realincrease Real Employer
pension age as at in pension and increase | contribution
31March2020and | related lump sum inCETV to
related lump sum at pension age partnership
pension
account
Des Gartland ** _ _ _ _
o ST 20 |25 e ?.5 (O 372 348 23 -
201803 June 2019) SR | S U]
Alan McKeown 0-5plus nil lump 0-2.5plusnil 16 _ 1 _
(from 3 June 2019) sum lump sum

*Alastair Hamilton chose not to be covered by the Northern Ireland Civil Service pension schemes
during the reporting year.

**The prior year CETV figure for this individual has been restated by Civil Service Pensions.

Northern Ireland Civil Service (NICS) Pension Schemes

Pension benefits are provided through the Northern Ireland Civil Service pension schemes which are
administered by Civil Service Pensions (CSP).

The alpha pension scheme was introduced for new entrants from 1 April 2015. The alpha scheme and all
previous scheme arrangements are unfunded with the cost of benefits met by monies voted each year. The
majority of existing members of the classic, premium, classic plus and nuvos pension arrangements also
moved to alpha from that date. Members who on 1 April 2012 were within 10 years of their normal pension
age did not move to alpha and those who were within 13.5 years and 10 years of their normal pension age
were given a choice between moving to alpha on1April 2015 or at a later date determined by their age.

Alphais a ‘Career Average Revalued Earnings’ (CARE) arrangement in which members accrue pension
benefits at a percentage rate of annual pensionable earnings throughout the period of scheme
membership. The current accrual rateis 2.32%.

New entrants joining can choose between membership of alpha or joining a ‘money purchase’ stakeholder
arrangement with a significant employer contribution (partnership pension account).

New entrantsjoining on or after 30 July 2007 were eligible for membership of the nuvos arrangement
or they could have opted for a partnership pension account. Nuvos is also a CARE arrangement in which
members accrue pension benefits at a percentage rate of annual pensionable earnings throughout the
period of scheme membership. The current accrual rateis 2.3%.

Staffin post prior to 30 July 2007 may be in one of three statutory based ‘final salary’ defined benefit
arrangements (classic, premium and classic plus). From April 2011, pensions payable under classic,
premium, and classic plus are reviewed annually in line with changes in the cost of living. New entrants
joining on or after 1 October 2002 and before 30 July 2007 could choose between membership of
premium orjoining the partnership pension account.
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All pension benefits are reviewed annually in line with changes in the cost of living. Any applicable
increases are applied from April and are determined by the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) figure for the
preceding September. The CPIin September 2019 was 1.7% and HM Treasury has announced that public
service pensions will be increased accordingly from April 2020.

Employee contribution rates for allmembers for the period covering 1 April 2020 - 31 March 2021 are
as follows:

Scheme Year1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021

Annualised Rate of Pensionable Earnings Contribution rates - Allmembers
(CEIERA:ELE))

£0

£23,999.99 4.6%
£24,000.00 £55,499.99 5.45%
£55,500.00 £152,499.99 7.35%
£152,500.00 and above 8.05%

Benefitsin classic accrue at the rate of 1/80th of pensionable salary for each year of service. In
addition, alump sum equivalent to three years’ pension is payable on retirement. For premium,
benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of final pensionable earnings for each year of service. Unlike
classic, there is no automatic lump sum (but members may give up (commute) some of their pension
to provide a lump sum). Classic plus is essentially a variation of premium, but with benefits in respect
of service before 1 October 2002 calculated broadly as per classic.

The partnership pension account is a stakeholder pension arrangement. The employer makes a basic
contribution of between 8% and 14.75% (depending on the age of the member) into a stakeholder
pension product chosen by the employee. The employee does not have to contribute but where

they do make contributions, the employer will match these up to a limit of 3% of pensionable salary
(inaddition to the employer’s basic contribution). Employers also contribute a further 0.5% of
pensionable salary to cover the cost of centrally-provided risk benefit cover (deathin service andill
health retirement).

The accrued pension quoted is the pension the member is entitled to receive when they reach their
scheme pension age, orimmediately on ceasing to be an active member of the scheme if they are at
or over pension age. Pension age is 60 for members of classic, premium, and classic plus and 65 for
members of nuvos. The normal pension age in alphais linked to the member’s State Pension Age but
cannot be before age 65. Further details about the NICS pension schemes can be found at the website
www.finance-ni.gov.uk/civilservicepensions-ni
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular pointin time. The benefits valued are the
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. ACETV is
a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension
scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits
accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual
has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures, and from 2003-04 the other pension
details, include the value of any pension benefit in another scheme or arrangement that the individual
has transferred to the NICS Pension arrangements. They also include any additional pension benefit
accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the
scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated in accordance with The Occupational Pension Schemes
(Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 and do not take account of any actual or potential
benefits resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which may be due when pension benefits are taken.

Realincreasein CETV

This reflects theincreasein CETV effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the increase
in accrued pension due toinflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any
benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market
valuation factors for the start and end of the period. However, the real increase calculation uses
common actuarial factors at the start and end of the period so that it disregards the effect of any
changesinfactors and focuses only on the increase that is funded by the employer.

Compensation for Loss of Office

The following section is subject to audit
No member of ELT received compensation for loss of office. In 2019-20 one member (2018-19: one
member) of ELT retired early at no additional cost to Invest NI.

Payments to past Directors

The following section is subject to audit
No payments have been made to former directors in either the current or previous year.
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Staff Report
Staff Costs

The following section is subject to audit

Permanently [ Overseas | Others* | 2019-20 | 2018-19

employed staff staff Total Total

00]0) £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Wages and salaries 23,113 3,941 1,011 28,065 26,481
Social security costs 2,462 - 32 2,494 2,389
Other pension costs 6,872 6,950 5,003

Less recoveries in respect of outward

secondments and others (303) - (303) (178)

Invest NI

Permanently | Overseas - - 2018-19

employed staff staff Total

£'000 £'000 . ! £'000

Wages and salaries 22,229 3,941 1,011 27,181 25,655
Social security costs 2,382 - 32 2,414 2,313
Other pension costs 6,649 6,727 4,820

Less recoveries in respect of outward
secondments and others (427) - (427) (279)

* Othersinclude Board members, temporary staff/external secondees and employees who are engaged on
afixed term contract. Included within wages and salaries above are costs of £691,000 (2018-19: £633,000)
inrespect of external secondees and temporary staff.
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Pension Costs

The Northern Ireland Civil Service main pension schemes are unfunded multi-employer defined
benefit schemes but Invest NIis unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities.
The Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) is responsible for carrying out scheme valuations.

The Actuary reviews employer contributions every four years following the scheme valuation. The 2016
scheme valuation was completed by GAD in March 2019. The outcome of this valuation was used to set
the level of contributions for employers from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2021.

For 2019-20, employers’ contributions of £6,693,000 were payable to the NICS pension arrangements
(2018-19 £4,811,000) at one of three rates in the range from 28.7 per cent to 34.2 per cent of
pensionable pay, based on salary bands.

This changeis primarily due to the reduction in the SCAPE discount rate (as announced at Budget
2018) to 2.4% pa above CPI. The contribution rates are set to meet the cost of the benefits accruing
during 2019-20 to be paid when the member retires, and not the benefits paid during this period to
existing pensioners.

Employees can opt to open a partnership pension account, a stakeholder pension with an employer
contribution. Employers’ contributions of £32,000 (2018-19: £9,000) were paid to one or more of the
panel of two appointed stakeholder pension providers. Employer contributions are age-related and
range from 8 to 14.75 per cent (2018-19: 8 to 14.75 per cent) of pensionable pay.

The partnership pension account offers the member the opportunity of having a ‘free’ pension. The
employer will pay the age-related contribution and if the member does contribute, the employer will
pay an additional amount to match member contributions up to 3% of pensionable earning.

Employer contributions of £1,000, 0.5 per cent (2018-19: £Nil, 0.5 per cent) of pensionable pay, were
payable to the NICS Pension schemes to cover the cost of the future provision of lump sum benefits on
deathin service andill health retirement of these employees. Contributions due to the partnership
pension providers at the reporting period date were £1,000 (2018-19: £Nil). Contributions prepaid at
that date were £Nil (2018-19: £Nil).

Four persons (2018-19: four persons) retired early onill-health grounds. The total additional accrued
pension liabilities amounted to £1,000 (2018-19: £20,000).

NI-CO contributed £223,000 (2018-19: £183,000) to a defined contribution scheme during the year.
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Average number of persons employed

The following section is subject to audit
The average number of Full Time Equivalent (FTE) persons employed during the year was as follows:

Permanently Others 2019-20 2018-19
employed staff Total Total
574 566

Directly employed

Temporary staff/external secondees - 10 10 7
Board members - 10 10 11
Overseas staff - 49 49 45
NI-CO staff

Invest NI Permanently Others 2019-20 2018-19
employed staff Total Total
566

Directly employed

Temporary staff/external secondees = 10 10 7
Board members = 10 10 11
Overseas staff

Note: The following ‘Information on people’ table is based on total numbers employed, whereas the
average number employed referred to above is based on total FTE.

Board members

Senior civil servants (SCS)* 16 5 21 14 6 20
Number of employees (excluding SCS) 293 361 654 290 346 636
Total 316 369 685 312 355 667

* Senior civil servants are defined as a member of staff at Grade 5 or above. The 21 employees referred to
above comprise oneindividual at Grade 1, four individuals at Grade 3 and 16 individuals at Grade 5.
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Off-payroll engagements

There were no off-payroll engagements requiring disclosure. During the year, a number of individuals
were engaged by Invest NI via secondment arrangements. In all cases these individuals are on the
payroll of their employer and the appropriate income tax and NI obligations are being met by their
employing organisation.

Off payroll engagements of Board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020:

I R

No. of off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or, senior officials with significant -
financial responsibility, during the financial year.

Total no. of individuals on-payroll that have been deemed Board members, and/or, senior 19
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year.

Reporting of Civil Service and other compensation schemes - exit packages

The following section is subject to audit

Invest NI did notimplement any Voluntary Exit Scheme in the current or previous year.

Consultancy costs and temporary staff

Consultancy costs of £Nil (2018-19: £Nil) were incurred and there was expenditure of £74,000
(2018-19: £16,000) on temporary staff during the year.

Employee-related policies

Invest NI hasissued a Joint Declaration of Protection, which is ajoint management and union
agreement recognising the moral and statutory responsibilities placed on Employers and Trade
Unions. Its purpose is to make certain that all Invest NI employees understand their responsibility
for ensuring that their conduct is consistent with Invest NI's determination to provide a neutral and
harmonious working environment for staff.

Invest NI's policy on Equality of Opportunity aims to ensure that no actual or potential job applicant or
staff memberis discriminated against, either directly or indirectly, on the grounds of gender, marital
status, disability, race, community background or political persuasion, age, dependants, sexual
orientation or trade union membership. The policy is designed to ensure that each person shall have
equal opportunity for employment, training and advancement within Invest NI on the basis of ability,
qualifications and performance. All staff receive mandatory training in Disability, Equality and Dignity
Awareness on joining the organisation, and refresher training in these areas was also delivered during
2019-20.
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Recruitment and selection training, including awareness of unconscious bias, is provided to
allmembers of recruitment panels. Invest NI gives full and fair consideration to employment
applications made by disabled persons, having regard to their particular aptitude and abilities. It
takes appropriate action to facilitate the employment, training, career development and promotion
of disabled staff members, including those who have become disabled during the period of their
employment with the organisation. It promotes a diverse and inclusive workforce by supporting
alterations to the working environment to assist disabled persons.

Invest NI continues to fulfil its statutory obligations under fair employment legislation, including the
annual return to the Equality Commission for Northern Ireland.

Staff attendanceis actively managed, and the organisation’s absence rate for the 2019-20 year was
3.11 per centincluding long-term sickness (2018-19: 3.84 per cent). In 2018-19 the NI Civil Service’s
absence rate was 5.8 per cent (the NI Civil Service comparison for the year 2019-20 is not currently
available).

The Learning and Development function supports the development of all staff by providing internal
and external training to develop skills and expertise. Invest NI offers a range of career development
opportunities, and is committed to the continuous development of its staff and to policies that enable
them to best contribute to the performance and long term effectiveness of the organisation. It ensures
that all learning interventions are aligned to the business strategy and organisational values.

Employees are actively involved in all relevant matters, and communication and consultation are
conducted both directly and through the recognised Trade Union (NIPSA).

Invest NI recognises its statutory responsibility to provide healthy and safe working conditions, and its
range of people policies and practices support the human rights and wellbeing of employees. Invest
NI believes thisis essential to achieving our organisational aims in line with our core vision and values.
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Assembly Accountability and Audit Report

The Assembly Accountability and Audit Report brings together the key Assembly accountability
documents with the annual report and accounts.

Losses and special payments

The following sections are subject to audit

Losses

Invest NIis required by MPMNI to disclose losses and related information, including any waiver of
Invest NI's entitlement to income and write off. Details are as follows:

Group and Invest NI

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019

Losses No. of No. of Losses No. of No. of

£'000 cases cases £'000 cases cases

Waiver/ Write off >£250k* <£250k >£250k* <£250k
Grants recoverable 1,137 - 33 5,328 3 23
Othersincludinginvestments 634 2 8 13,210 1 27

and accruedincome

All the waiver or write off cases were either approved by Invest NI in accordance with internal
delegated limits, or by DfE or DoF where appropriate.

Includedin the table above in the prior year was one legacy case from prior to the formation of Invest
NIwith a value of £14,719,000, in relation to Mackie International Limited and Springvale Foundry
Limited which included both grant and loan balances.

At the year-end there are 37 cases of potential losses totalling £5,249,000 (2019: 14 cases totalling
£1,713,000) that are under management review. Of these cases £1,429,000 were reported in previous
years; £3,820,000 were new cases in 2019-20.

These cases have been notified to DfE and DoF as potential losses and the review process is on-going.
All of these cases have been fully provided for so will have no future impact on the accounts.

* Individual company names not disclosed due to commercial sensitivity.
Special payments

There were no special payments greater than £250,000 in the current or previous year. Special
payments are defined in Managing Public Money (Northern Ireland).

Fees and charges
This section is subject to audit

There are no fees and charges that require disclosure.
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Remote Contingent Liabilities
This section is subject to audit

There are no remote contingent liabilities that require disclosure.

Kevin Holland
Accounting Officer
Date: 11 September 2020
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The Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor

General to the Northern Ireland Assembly

Opinion on financial statements

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of Invest Northern Ireland for the year ended

31 March 2020 under the Industrial Development Act (Northern Ireland) 2002. The financial
statements comprise: the Group and Parent Statements of Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
Financial Position, Cash Flows, Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity; and the related notes, including
significant accounting policies. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out within them. I have also audited the information in the Accountability Report that is
described in that report as having been audited.

In my opinion the financial statements:

« giveatrueand fair view of the state of the group’s and of Invest Northern Ireland’s affairs as at
31March 2020 and of the group’s and Invest Northern Ireland’s net expenditure for the year then
ended; and

« have been properly prepared in accordance with the Industrial Development Act (Northern Ireland)
2002 and Department for the Economy directions issued thereunder.

Emphasis of matter

I draw attention to Notes 1,7,11,12 and 18 of the financial statements, which describes the material
valuation uncertainties for land and buildings, investments in associates, financial assets and grant
provisions due to the consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic. My opinion is not modified in respect
of the matter.

Qualified opinion on regularity

In my opinion, except for the estimated levels of ineligible grant expenditure described in the basis
of opinions section below, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by the Assembly and the financial
transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

Basis of opinions

Included within expenditure is £220 million on the Small Business Grant Scheme. Iidentified an
estimated £13.5 million paid to recipients who were not eligible under the scheme rules. I consider this
to be material to my opinion on the accounts. Ihave therefore qualified my opinion on regularity as
the expenditure has not been made for the purposes intended by the Assembly and does not conform
to the authorities which governit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and
Practice Note 10 ‘Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Entities in the United Kingdom’. My
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of this certificate. My staff and I are independent of Invest
Northern Ireland in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s
Revised Ethical Standard 2016, and have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for my opinions.
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Conclusions relating to going concern

I have nothing to reportin respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs(UK) require me
toreport toyou where:

+ Invest NorthernIreland’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statementsis not appropriate; or

« Invest NorthernIreland has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about Invest Northern Ireland’s ability to continue
to adopt the going concern basis.

Other Information

Invest Northern Ireland and the Accounting Officer are responsible for the other information included
inthe annual report. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report
other than the financial statements, the parts of the Accountability Report described in the report as
having been audited, and my audit certificate and report. My opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this otherinformation, I am required to report that fact. T have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters

In my opinion:

+ theparts of the Accountability Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance
with Department for the Economy directions made under the Industrial Development Act
(NorthernIreland) 2002; and

+ theinformation givenin the Performance Report and Accountability Report for the financial year
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Responsibilities of Invest Northern Ireland and Accounting Officer for the
financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, Invest Northern
Ireland and the Accounting Officer are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

My responsibility is to examine, certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the
Industrial Development Act (Northern Ireland) 2002.

My objectives are to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Reasonable assuranceis a high level of assurance,
butis not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
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material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
materialif, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Afurther description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of my certificate.

In addition,Iamrequired to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes
intended by the Assembly and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform
to the authorities which govern them.

Matters on which Ireport by exception
I'have nothing toreportin respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:
« adequate accounting records have not been kept; or

+ thefinancial statements and the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited are notin
agreement with the accounting records; or

« Thave notreceived all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or

« the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with the Department of Finance’s
guidance.

My detailed observations are included in my report attached to the financial statements.

Kﬂfﬁwﬁ/

KJDonnelly

Comptroller and Auditor General
Northern Ireland Audit Office
106 University Street

Belfast

BT71EU

14 September 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Net

Expenditure —For the year ended 31 March 2020

Note 2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Revenue from contracts with customers 12,601 14,986
Other operatingincome 49,340 55,980
_-__
Staff Costs 3 (37,206) (33,695)
Purchase of goods and services 3 (35,106) (36,185)
Depreciation and impairment charges 3 (3,845) (1,728)
(Increase) in Provisions 3 (6,381) (5,385)
Other Operating Expenditure 3 (86,378) (78,490)

Small Business Grant Scheme 3 (220,000)

Financeincome

Finance expense (1,502) (982)
(531) (661)

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure

Net gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 6(iii) 12,738 2,253

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets 9 - 19

Net galn on revaluation of investments

All activities derive from continuing operations.
Notes1to 26 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure -
Invest NI-For the year ended 31 March 2020

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Revenue from contracts with customers 1,238 1,200
Other operatingincome 5 48,835 54,659
Total Operatingincome 5 50,073 55,859
Staff Costs 3 (35,895) (32,509)
Purchase of goods and services 3 (28,952) (27,089)
Depreciation and impairment charges 3 (3,308) (1,552)
(Increase) in Provisions 3 (6,381) (5,385)
Other Operating Expenditure 3 (86,378) (78,482)
Small Business Grant Scheme 3 (220,000) -
Total operating expenditure 3 (380,914) (145,017)
Net operating expenditure (330,841) (89,158)
Financeincome - -
Finance expense - -
Net expenditure for the year before taxation (330,841) (89,158)
Tax 6(i) = =
Net expenditure for the year after taxation (330,841) (89,158)
Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure

Items that will not be reclassified to net operating expenditure:

Net gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 7 11,409 1,217
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets 9 = 19
Items that may be reclassified to net operating expenditure:

Net gain onrevaluation of investments 12 = =
Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended (319,432) (87,922)

31 March 2020

All activities derive from continuing operations.
Notes 1to 26 form part of these accounts.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position -

As at 31 March 2020

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Property, plant and equipment 7 80,184 70,250
Investment properties 8 7,600 7,600
Intangible assets 9 20,868 20,785
Investments in associates 11 55,241 51,741
Financial assets 12 48,768 41,641
Trade and other receivables 13 4,341 4,515

Trade and other receivables 13 49,192 49,336
Cash and cash equivalents 14 22,808 21,080
Assets classified as held for sale 15 - 1,569

Trade and other payables 16 (194,831) (40,464)
Borrowings 17 (893) (608)
Current tax liability (295) (218)

Provisions

(41,970) (35,589)

18
o (@es9)
- sl

Borrowings 17 (15,438) (16,329)
Provisions 18 - -
Derivative financial instruments 20 (6,270) (5,836)
Deferred tax liability 6(iii) (660) (734)

Revaluation reserve 22,920 9,033
General reserve 5,725 159,706

Notes1to 26 form part of these accounts.
Thefinancial statements on pages 66to 136 were approved by the Board on 9 September 2020 and
signed on its behalf by:

Kevin Holland
Accounting Officer
Date: 11 September 2020
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Statement of Financial Position—Invest NI
As at 31 March 2020

2020 2019
£'000 £'000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 7 52,617 43,592
Intangible assets 9 934 851
Investments in subsidiaries 10 17,593 17,593
Investments in associates 11 55,241 51,741
Financial assets 12 48,768 41,641
Trade and other receivables 13 4,341 4,515
Total non-current assets 179,494 159,933
Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 47,717 46,721
Cash and cash equivalents 14 457 898
Assets classified as held for sale 15 - 1,569
Total current assets 48,174 49,188
Total assets 227,668 209,121

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 (187,860) (32,282)
Provisions 18 (41,970) (35,589)
Total current liabilities (229,830) (67,871)
Total assets less current liabilities (2,162) 141,250

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 18 - -
Total assets less total liabilities (2,162) 141,250

Taxpayers’ equity and other reserves

Revaluation reserve 17,387 6,669
General reserve (19,549) 134,581
Total equity (2,162) 141,250

Notes1to 26 form part of these accounts.
Thefinancial statements on pages 66to 136 were approved by the Board on 9 September 2020 and
signed onits behalf by:

Kevin Holland
Accounting Officer
Date: 11 September 2020



70

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 March 2020

2020 2020 2019 2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net expenditure before taxation (328,423) (85,464)
Adjustments for other non-cash transactions 19 109,022 36,429
Finance costs 1,502 982
Financeincome (54) (35)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 876 10,854
(Increase)/decreasein trade and other payables 149,899 (6,749)
Use of provisions (30,634) (28,999)

230,611 12,482
Net cash (outflow) from operating activities (97,812) (72,982)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,240) (1,552)
Purchase of intangible assets (438) (102)
Proc_eeds of disposal of property, plant and 2,513 1,602
equipment

Repayments from other bodies 14,653 4,726
Investment in associates (19,702) (18,344)
Investment in financial assets (6,148) (6,140)
Loaninterest and dividends received 249 562
Interest paid (1,068) (1,122)
Corporation tax (paid)/repaid (445) (702)
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (12,626) (21,072)

Cash flows from financing activities

Grants from sponsoring department 108,051 96,000
Consolidated fund payments to DfE - (9)

Repayment of borrowings (606) (479)

Net financing 107,445 95,512

Net (decrease)/increasein cash and cash (2,993) 1,458
equivalentsin the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 21,080 19,622
theyear

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 18,087 21,080

Notes1to 26 form part of these accounts.
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Consolidated Statement of Changesin
Taxpayers' Equity - Year ended 31 March 2020

General reserve | Revaluationreserve Taxpayers’ Equity
£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 31 March 2018

as previously reported 150,559 7,228 157,787
Impact of adoption of [FRS 9 (1,195) - (1,195)
Balance at1April 2018 149,364 7,228 156,592
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for 2018-19

e (%7 :
]EoorThper?(f;grrwsive Net Expenditure (86,125) 2272 (83,853)
Grants from sponsoring department 96,000 - 96,000
Balance at 31 March 2019 159,706 9,033 168,739
Changes in Taxpayers' Equity for 2019-20

Decrease in deferred tax liability - 102 102
E)rtar:]irf(rizerves movements including (1,047) 1,047 _
Eﬁg{[:éraerhensive Net Expenditure for (328,954) 12,738 (316,216)
Grants from sponsoring department:

Cash 108,051 - 108,051
Notional 67,700 - 67,700
Reversal of notional costs 269 - 269
Balance at 31 March 2020 5,725 22,920 28,645

Notes1to 26 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity —
Invest NI - Year ended 31 March 2020

Generalreserve | Revaluationreserve Taxpayers' Equity
£'000 £'000 £'000

Impact of adoption of IFRS 9 (1,195) (1,195)

Other reserves movements

including transfers 467 (467) -
Comprehensive Net Expenditure

for the Year (89,158) 1,236 (87,922)
Grants from sponsoring department 96,000 96,000

Other reserves movements including

transfers 691 (=) :
Sﬁg:{graerhenswe Net Expenditure for (330,841) 11,409 (319,432)
Grants from sponsoring department:

Cash 108,051 - 108,051
Notional 67,700 - 67,700

Reversal of notional costs

Notes1to 26 form part of these accounts.
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Notes to the Accounts

Year ended 31 March 2020

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of accounting policies

Thefinancial statements of Invest NI have been prepared in compliance with paragraph 17 (2) of
Schedule 1to the Industrial Development Act (Northern Ireland) 2002 in a form directed by DfE, and
inaccordance with the 2019-20 Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM)issued by DoF. The
accounting policies contained in the FReM apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adapted orinterpreted for the public sector context.

Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the organisation, for the purpose of giving a true and
fair view, has been selected.

The particular accounting policies adopted by Invest NI are described below. They have been applied
consistently to all years presented, in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£) with all values rounded to the nearest £1,000
except where otherwise stated.

Accounting conventions

These financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to account
for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, investment property, intangible assets and
derivative financial instruments which are held at their fair value.

Fair valueis the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value

of an asset or a liability, the group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these financial
statementsis determined on such a basis.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1linputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

« Level 2inputs areinputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Adoption of new and revised standards
In the current year, the group has applied the following new standards:

« IFRIC23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments; and
« TheAnnual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle.

The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have a material impact on the group’s
financial statements in the period of initial application.

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been adopted
early by the group but are applicable to the group:

During the year, the IASB and IFRIC have issued accounting standards and interpretations with an
effective date after the date of these financial statements (i.e. applicable to accounting periods
beginning on or after the effective date).

« Theimplementation of IFRS 16 Leases (IFRS deadline effective 1 January 2019) has been delayed by
HM Treasury in the FReM until 1 April 2021.

«  Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a business.
+  Amendments to IAS 1and IAS 8 Definition of material.
« Interest Rate Benchmark reform (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7) (Effective 1 January 2020).

With the exception of IFRS 16, management do not anticipate that the adoption of the above
amendments will have a materialimpact on the group’s financial statements in the period of initial
application.

The adoption of IFRS 16 will have a material impact on the group’s financial statements in the period of
initial application, as all operating leases will be brought on to the Statement of Financial Position as a
right of use asset with a corresponding lease liability. As a number of existing leases will expire before
the effective date of 1 April 2021 and new leases may be entered into before that dateitis not possible
to quantify theinitialimpact at this point. The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic will have animpact on
decision-making regarding entering into leases between now and the date of transition.

HM Treasury has issued application guidance in relation to IFRS 16 which has been applied to all
current leases and will be used to assess the impact of any new leases entered into before the date

of application. This guidance has been used to determine the lease term. The option for lessees to
combine lease and service components and account for them as a single lease has also been selected
in cases whereitis costly to separate lease and service components.

The standard contains a number of recognition exemptions, including short-term leases. Any lease
meeting this exemption (i.e. as having a lease term of 12 months of less, after the assessment of any
options) will be outside the scope of IFRS 16.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

HM Treasury has mandated a number of public sector interpretations to the standard to improve
consistency across the public sector and to ease implementation. Upon transition, Invest NI shall
recognise the cumulative effect if initially applying the Standard at the date of initial application
(1 April 2021) as an adjustment to taxpayers’ equity. There will also be no requirement to reassess
whether a contractis, or contains, a lease at the date of initial application.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Invest NI and the
entities controlled by Invest NI (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 March each year. Control is achieved
where Invest NI has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity.

Where material, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring the
accounting policies used into line with those used by the group. Allintra-group transactions, balances,
income and expenditure are eliminated on consolidation.

Property, plant and equipment

Expenditure on property, plant and equipment of £1,000 or more is capitalised. On initial recognition,
assets are measured at cost including any costs directly attributable to bringing them into working
condition. All property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually forimpairment and is carried at fair
value. Land and buildings are stated at their fair value based on annual professional valuation as at the
end of the financial year.

Other non-property assets are deemed to be short-life or low value assets and are therefore valued

on the basis of depreciated replacement cost, using appropriate indices to account for the effects of
inflation, as an approximation of fair value. Additions and subsequent expenditure are capitalised only
whenitis probable that the future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to Invest NI
and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Depreciation

Freehold land is not depreciated. For other assets, depreciation is provided on a straight line basis
in order to write-off the valuation, less estimated residual value, of each asset over its expected
usefullife, or lease period if shorter. The base usefu